ALL THE SARCOPLASM IS A STAGE; AND ALL THE ANABOLIC AND CATABOLIC COMPLEXES MERELY PLAYERS; THEY HAVE THEIR EXITS AND ENTRANCES

AN ANALYSIS OF HOW PROTEOLYTIC PATHWAYS IMPACT PROTEIN SYNTHESIS CAPACITY IN C2C12 MYOTUBES

A Dissertation

by

JESSICA MARIE CARDIN

Submitted to the Graduate and Professional School of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Chair of Committee,	James D. Fluckey
Committee Members,	J. Timothy Lightfoot
	Charles Shea
	Steven Riechman
Head of Department,	Adam Barry

December 2021

Major Subject: Kinesiology

Copyright 2021 Jessica Marie Cardin

ABSTRACT

The control of anabolism and catabolism in muscle, termed protein turnover, is a heavily studied research area. It is known that steps in anabolism involve the mechanistic Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) and can have a direct impact on catabolic pathways. While we acknowledge that catabolism within the cell provides an intracellular source of amino acids (AA) to support anabolism, lesser known is whether catabolic pathways within skeletal muscle have a direct impact on anabolic capacity. To better understand how catabolic pathways impact anabolism, these studies used key anabolic and/or catabolic inhibitors to determine their role on 24-h fractional protein synthesis rates (FSR) and anabolic signaling in cultured C2C12 myotubes. The underlying hypothesis for the present study was catabolic processes directly affect the anabolic capacity by affecting anabolic signal transduction. To complete these studies, specialized inhibitors designed to block the autophagic (NSC 185058) and/or proteasomal (MG-262) catabolic pathways and/or anabolic signaling through mTOR were utilized to delineate contributions of the respective catabolic pathways on mTOR activity and FSR. Application of MG-262 had no statistical impact on FSR. However, incubation of cells with NSC 185058 yielded blunted FSR (p=0.0146), similar to that of complete mTOR inhibition using Torin 1 (p=0.0012). When Torin 1 and NSC 185058 were combined, FSR was lowered beyond single inhibitor application levels (vs Control; p<0.0001). Western blot analyses revealed that NSC 185058 had a differential effect on the activation of two mTOR targets, showing a decrease in activation of p70S6K (involved with ribosomal biogenesis) with no change in eIF4EBP (involved with CAP-

dependent mRNA translation). This effect persisted when NSC 185058 was combined with either Rapamycin, MG-262, or Torin 1. Both p70S6K and eIF4EBP1 responded as expected to incubation with Torin 1, regardless of combination with either catabolic inhibitor. These results collectively suggest that there is a direct contribution of autophagic processes on normal anabolism in the cell affecting FSR, which could be mediated through disrupted mTOR signal transduction through a yet to be defined mechanism affecting ribosomal biogenesis. Additionally, the data indicate that autophagic contribution to cellular protein turnover outweighs the proteasomal contribution to intracellular AA utilized in anabolism.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to my grandparents, Olan and Ariewanna Meador and Pat and Elvira Cardin. They provided me so much love and support while they were alive.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

These two words express gratitude, humility, understanding, as well as acknowledgement. I am here with you: my family, friends, peers, and mentors because I need to say that and much more. The colloquialism "it takes a village to raise a child" applies to getting through the PhD process. The village behind me and my dissertation is you: current and former MBL lab members.

Thank you to the College and HLKN Department for the opportunity to complete this PhD. I would like to highlight my committee members.

Dr. Shea-

I have always appreciated your teaching capabilities. You are exceptionally good at explaining difficult topics in your classes. I always appreciated your good natured personality and always looked forward to attending your class. I have always been envious of your sneaker game. Thank you.

Dr. Riechman-

I have always enjoyed chatting with you over the years. It was always nice to get the latest update on your kids. You have always brought a unique perspective with your inquisitive line in thinking that you demonstrated in the classroom and outside during our informal conversations. Thank you. Dr. Lightfoot-

I have always enjoyed taking your classes. They provide important instruction on the "soft skills" that aren't necessarily involved in a doctorate program. You have always been kind and generous in your time. Thank you.

Dr. Fluckey-

Thank you for taking me under your wing. You are a peerless teacher, boss, leader, and friend. You have provided endless opportunities beyond the traditional coursework and wet lab experience. Along with the unrivaled mentorship on all aspects of the doctoral process you have helped me to develop a deeper sense of compassion and empathy. Throughout my time in your lab, you have always treated your graduate students as people first. T am a better person and researcher because of the time spent in your lab. Please accept my heartfelt gratitude for your time, support and patience. Thank you. Evan –

I am deeply appreciative for your support during the last several years. Thank you for your constant love and compassion. Thank you for your understanding, your never ending encouragement and for always being there for me. Your support has meant the world to me. I am a better person because of you. Thank you for loving me. I love you so very much.

My Parents –

I want to extend my thanks to my parents. Everything I am today and everything I may be tomorrow is all due to the sacrifices my parents have made for me. A big thank you to my parents.

Blue -

Blue passed away last week. He was my best friend for almost 15 years. He gave the best cuddles and was always by my side. Thank you for putting up with me for the last 15 years. His absence has saturated our home. Thank you for being the best dog.

vi

CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES

Contributors

This work was supervised by a dissertation committee consisting of Drs.

Fluckey, Shea, Riechman, and Lightfoot of the Department of Health and Kinesiology.

The Western Blots gels were run by Patrick J. Ryan. All other work conducted for this dissertation was completed by the student independently.

Funding Sources

Graduate study was supported by teaching assistantships from Texas A&M University.

This work was made possible in part by grants received from the Huffines Institution and from the College of Education and Human Development. Its contents are the sole responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the Huffines Institute or the College of Education and Human Development.

NOMENCLATURE

AA	Amino Acid
GCMS	Gas Chromatogram Mass Spectrometry
eIF4EBP1	Eukaryotic Initiation Factor 4 E Binding Protein
FSR	Fractional Synthesis Rates
mTOR	Mechanistic Target of Rapamycin
Phe	Phenylalanine
p70S6K	Ribosomal protein S6 kinase beta -1
T2D	Type 2 Diabetes

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ABSTRACT	ii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES	vii
NOMENCLATURE	viii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Hypothesis	6
2. INTRACELLULAR DEGRADATION SYSTEMS	8
 2.1. 26s Proteasome 2.2. Autophagy	
3. SIGNALING	23
3.1. mTOR 3.1.1. mTORC1	23 24
4. INHIBITORS	32
 4.1. Catabolic Inhibitors 4.1.1. 26s Inhibitor – MG-262 4.1.2. Autophagic Inhibitor – NSC 185058 4.2. Anabolic Inhibitors 	

5. DEUTERIUM OXIDE AND THE MEASURE OF PROTEIN SYNTHESIS	34
6. MATERIALS AND METHODS	37
6.1. Approach to be Used	
6.2. Cell Culture	
6.3. Protein Synthesis Rates	
6.4. Immunoblot Analyses	
6.5. Statistical Analyses	40
7. RESULTS	42
7.1. Fractional Synthesis Rates	42
7.1.1. Single Inhibitor	43
7.1.2. Double Inhibitor	44
7.1.3. Triple Inhibitor	45
7.2. Western Blotting	47
7.2.1. p70S6K	47
7.2.2. eIF4EBP1	51
7.3. Summary	54
8. DISCUSSIONS	55
REFERENCES	62

LIST OF FIGURES

 Figure 1 Single Inhibitor Application Myofibrillar Fractional Synthesis Rates. Deuterium oxide tracer methods were used to quantify 24 hour cumulative myofibrillar FSR in C2C12 myotubes, n=5. Values are means with ± SE. Bars displaying a p-value are statistically different from the bar on the other side of the comparison.
 Figure 2 Double Inhibitor Application Myofibrillar Fractional Synthesis Rates. Deuterium oxide tracer methods were used to quantify 24 hour cumulative myofibrillar FSR in C2C12 myotubes n=5. Values are means with ± SE. Bars displaying a p-value are statistically different from the bar on the other side of the comparison
 Figure 3 Triple Inhibitor Application Myofibrillar Fractional Synthesis Rates. Deuterium oxide tracer methods were used to quantify 24 hour cumulative myofibrillar FSR in C2C12 myotubes, n=3. Values are means with ± SE. Bars displaying a p-value are statistically different from the bar on the other side of the comparison
Figure 4 Expression of p70S6K with Single Inhibitor Application. Immunoblot of the anabolic protein p70S6K in C2C12 myotubes. Assessed as phosphorylated protein (left), total protein (center) and phosphorylated protein to total (right). Values are means ± SE
 Figure 5 Expression of p70S6K with Double Inhibitor Application. Immunoblot of the anabolic protein p70S6K in C2C12 myotubes. Assessed as phosphorylated protein (left), total protein (center) and phosphorylated protein to total (right). Values are means ± SE.
Figure 6 Expression of p70S6K with Triple Inhibitor Application. Immunoblot of the anabolic protein p70S6K in C2C12 myotubes. Assessed as phosphorylated protein (left), total protein (center) and phosphorylated protein to total (right). Values are means ± SE
Figure 7 Expression of eIF4EBP1 with Single Inhibitor Application. Immunoblot of the anabolic protein eIF4EBP1 in C2C12 myotubes. Assessed as phosphorylated protein (left), total protein (center) and phosphorylated protein to total (right). Values are means ± SE
Figure 8 Expression of eIF4EBP1 with Double Inhibitor Application. Immunoblot of the anabolic protein eIF4EBP1 in C2C12 myotubes. Assessed as

phosphorylated protein (left), total protein (center) and phosphorylated protein to total (right). Values are means \pm SE.	52
Figure 9 Expression of eIF4EBP1 with Triple Inhibitor Application. Immunoblot of the anabolic protein eIF4EBP1 in C2C12 myotubes. Assessed as	
phosphorylated protein (left), total protein (center) and phosphorylated protein to total (right). Values are means \pm SE.	53

1. INTRODUCTION

Accounting for ~40% of body weight of normal healthy individuals, skeletal muscle has the potential to impact whole body metabolism in a forceful manner. Maintenance of quality of life has been tied to quality and quantity of skeletal muscle mass (26, 216, 220). Certain pathophysiologies such as cancer (6, 142, 215), Type 2 Diabetes (T2D) (99, 173, 174), and bed rest (57, 83, 125, 126) have been associated with loss of muscle mass. Patients with lower muscle mass typically have lower "patient success" rates (12, 47, 82, 181). T2D has become one of the most common diagnoses in adults in the United States. Twenty-seven million Americans now live with T2D (27). In 2017 the indirect and direct costs associated with T2D within the United States alone was \$327 billion (27). While there is a large effort to derive treatments to aid in the management of T2D, the etiology remains elusive. A significant portion of the research associated with T2D, cancer or bed rest has focused on understanding why patients have developed sarcopenic obesity, cachexia or atrophy (105, 123, 156). The previous efforts on understanding how muscle is lost, regardless of pathophysiology, has focused on the delineation of the amount of catabolism through either the proteasome or lysosome pathway. As these are the two main systems through which intracellular substrates can be degraded, understanding the timeline of the dysregulation of proteolytic mechanisms could provide an avenue to develop pharmaceutical interventions to alleviate muscle mass loss. As skeletal muscle is heavily dependent on glucose as an energy source (52), preserving muscle mass could alleviate many of the issues associated with the high blood glucose levels associated with T2D. A large cadre of the research community

indicates that autophagy is related to the onset of T2D (118, 145, 169). However, there are significant concerns with the ability of the current methods employed to account for the impact of catabolism on anabolic function. There is also a paucity of research that investigates the dual routes of intracellular degradation concomitantly with anabolic outcomes.

The anabolic machinery that allows protein synthesis to occur has been thoroughly documented over the last several decades. The first work on whole-body protein turnover was published in 1942 (203). It was a decade later in 1953 that the lysosome was discovered and that mammalian cells were first described as having the capacity to degrade intracellular proteins and that this process required ATP (192). In 1960, it was first demonstrated that proteolysis can also occur outside the lysosome via the Ca2+ dependent protease calpain (78). Over the next twenty years, researchers discovered the ATP- and ubiquitin-dependent proteasome (76), followed by the discovery of the 20S and 26S subunits in the 1980's (13, 112, 115). The past several decades have substantiated the recognition of the impact of protein degradation on the fields of physiology, genetics, medicine, and microbiology. This recognition began with the 1974 Nobel Prize being awarded to Christian de Duve for his work on the discovery of the lysosome. Thirty years later the Nobel Prize was awarded to the research trio of Aaron Ciechanover, Irwin Rose, and Avram Hershko for their discovery of the ubiquitin regulated protein degradation. The next Nobel Prize went to Yoshinori Ohsumi in 2016 for his work in autophagy. These awards show that the scientific community understands the significance of intracellular protein degradation.

The goal of this laboratory has been to expound on the known and unknown mechanisms that impact muscle mass. Skeletal muscle is a tissue that demonstrates a robust response to outside stimuli by entering either an anabolic or catabolic state. Skeletal muscle mass is one of the few tissues that runs on glucose and under starvation or certain disease conditions, skeletal muscle can catabolize itself and provide a source of nutrients. The adaptability of this tissue is of importance as it allows the body to adapt to the environment or stress. Modifications in protein metabolism are needed to meet the stages that cells go through of growth, maintenance, and atrophy. It is important to note that the change can occur through modulating either the rate of protein synthesis or protein degradation. As a cell enters the state of growth, synthesis rates will outpace degradation rates. As atrophy predominates the cell cycle, degradation rates will eclipse synthesis rates. Consequently, it is of importance that both degredation and synthesis rates are quantified. But the impact of catabolic end products has rarely been examined with anabolic endpoints such as fractional synthesis rate (FSR). The connectedness of catabolism and anabolism is usually only thought of as anabolism is anti-catabolic, with little work done to investigate how catabolism can impact anabolism. The first quantification of catabolism in skeletal muscle was in 1969 when Goldberg et al. noticed that skeletal muscle cells that were undergoing rapid growth had a slower loss of radioactively labelled protein (74). As time has progressed, the interest and capability to measure protein synthesis and degradation has grown. Our lab has pioneered a technique to measure protein synthesis using deuterium oxide. The advantage of this model is that we allow individual cells to manufacture their own precursor pool so that

labeling of proteins within the cell is relatively uniform over time. Antecedent work from this lab show that while Fatty Zucker rats with T2D have lower quantities of muscle mass, they maintain or have augmented levels of protein synthesis (163). Even when resistance exercise was introduced, the Fatty Zucker rats did not respond. It would be expected that resistance exercise should have activated the mTOR pathway which would ultimately lead to an anabolic response. Interestingly, the data suggest that proteolysis (through either the proteasome or lysosome) should be inhibited as TORC1 is presumed to be anti-catabolic(11, 124). mTORC1 activity is upregulated in the diabetic phenotype(162). Thus, while mTORC1 activation may serve to reduce proteolysis, it is plausible that the purported upregulation of catabolic responses in diabetic models service the elevated protein synthesis in the face of diminishing muscle mass. Conversely, the methodologies to quantify and isolate the contributions of each of the proteolytic pathways to the global degradation rate has been limited (21). Utilization of inhibitors to isolate each pathway are heavily utilized throughout the field, but these inhibitors typically have broader targets than the intended component within the proteolytic pathway of interest. It is imperative that inhibitors be rigorously screened to ensure off-target interactions are limited, and that it will not impact the other proteolytic pathway(s). Current literature only gives approximate delineations for the contributions of the major proteolytic pathways, with the lysosomal pathway accounting for 20-30% and the non-lysosomal (proteasome and cytosolic) accounting for 70-80% (39, 72, 73, 76, 86, 88, 224). Yet other work postulates that these rates are reversed (54, 131). Both of the catabolic pathways have been implicated with the onset of T2D. Autophagy has

been purported to contribute to the onset of T2D, as autophagic markers and rate have been noted to be aberrant in diabetic skeletal muscle(14, 51, 91, 130, 160, 231). However, researchers who are focused on the 26s proteasome have delineated dysregulation within this catabolic pathway that would lead to the development of the sarcopenic obesity phenotype (4, 10, 62, 134, 151, 154, 175). It is the mindset of this lab that there are alterations in catabolic rate that appears with the onset of T2D, which leads to sarcopenic obesity. Restoration of muscle mass could alleviate the maladies associated with T2D and allow for patients to return to a healthful state. Understanding the contrivances (and the gambit of catabolism that they are responsible for) that contribute to protein turnover in a whole cell view, rather than as independent and separate mechanisms, will aid in the identification of therapeutic targets for the amelioration of muscle mass loss.

Muscles cells throughout the body have a unique physical attribute that due to the contractile nature of these cells, the proteins responsible for the action are packed tightly and leave a limited amount of space within the sarcoplasm. Due to this morphology, the aggregation or degradation of proteins and organelles have a more demonstrative impact on the size of a muscle fiber, than in a typical cell where the quantity of intracellular proteins or organelles is not a determinant of size. When skeletal muscle fibers are exercised, the intracellular proteins and organelles increase in quantity, leading to hypertrophy of the muscle fiber. When the amount of intracellular content decreases, this leads to atrophy. A net catabolic state is typically achieved when protein degradation rate overcomes the rate of protein synthesis. Several disease states such as

cancer, diabetes, or inactivity/disuse can cause the balance of muscle mass to "tip" to an atrophic phase. The regulators of the protein synthesis and degradation rates have varied geneses ranging from skeletal muscle derived processes to extracellular hormones. These effectors can influence either the ubiquitin-proteasome or lysosomal systems to modulate rate of degradation. The degradation system, as a whole, will ultimately generate free amino acids that can be reincorporated into new proteins for the muscle fiber. By understanding if, and to what extent, these two systems impact each other by utilizing next generation catabolic inhibitors, this study aimed to delineate the interplay between anabolic and catabolic systems and how that relationship impacts protein synthesis. The following section will detail specific aspects of catabolic and anabolic processes and their role in protein turnover.

1.1. Hypothesis

Our group's overarching goal has been to elucidate the nuances of the anabolic framework within skeletal muscle (66, 68, 69, 162, 163, 204). However, to date, there has been no attempt to understand how catabolic signaling and ultimately the endproducts of catabolism, impact anabolic capacity. With the understanding that intracellular amino acids can be derived from catabolic events of either an autophagic or proteasomal origin, it is imperative to quantify the extent that autophagy or the 26s proteasome play in skeletal muscle protein synthesis. To accomplish this, specific and highly targeted inhibitors of autophagy (NSC 185058) and 26s proteasome (MG-262), along with the anabolic inhibitors of Rapamycin (mTORC1 inhibitor) and Torin 1 (mTORC1 and mTORC2 inhibitor) were applied to C2C12 myotubes. We hypothesized that inhibition of either the 26s proteasome or autophagy would impact FSR by limiting intracellular amino acid availability. In addition, we hypothesized that application of the catabolic inhibitors, NSC 185058 or MG-262, may cause disruption in mTOR related signal transduction. To test those hypotheses, we explored two specific aims. The first aim was designed to delineate the contribution of proteasomal-dependent and autophagic-dependent intracellular amino acid generation on FSR with the application of deuterium oxide and specific inhibitors that disabled cellular machinery within the proteasomal and autophagic degradation pathways. The second aim of this study was designed to analyze the impact of MG-262 and NSC 185058 application on the direct downstream targets of mTORC1, p70S6K and eIF4EBP1 using Western Blot analysis. Measurement of these key signaling gatekeepers informed on how catabolic processes interpose on anabolic capacity by affecting signal transduction within either ribosomal machinery recruitment (p70S6K) or CAP-dependent mRNA translation (eIF4EBP1). Together, these aims are expected to result in the identification of how the flux of protein degradation impacts myofibrillar protein synthesis and can help identify how much intracellular protein degradation is attributed to each of the main pathways (26s proteasome or autophagy) responsible for protein degradation. The implications of this study may identify mechanisms underlying a connection between catabolic and anabolic pathways that have been previously gone uncharacterized.

2. INTRACELLULAR DEGRADATION SYSTEMS

2.1. 26s Proteasome

It has been estimated that the Ub-Proteasome system handles ~80% of intracellular degradation across all cell types (39). Proteasomes can account up to 1% of soluble protein within cells (85, 208). The cellular proteins are digested to short peptides, with the majority having a size range of two - ten residues (110). Proteasomes can exist within cells for 40-200 hours (244). Proteasomes have a molecular weight of 700-750 kDa, a diameter of \approx 12 nm and a length of \approx 17 nm (40, 115). The oligopeptides are then released into the cytosol and are then hydrolyzed in an almost instantaneous fashion by cytosolic aminopeptidases. The resulting amino acids are then free to be sequestered by the cell for "recycling". Proteolysis within mammalian cells is a processive and irreversible activity that can have potent consequences if proteolysis becomes dysregulated. There appears to be high quantities of unengaged proteasomes that when needed (nutrient deprivation or prolonged starvation) can be "called upon" to increase degradation rates. To determine if a protein will be degraded two main steps must be accomplished. The first being an Ub-chain attaching to the substrate, and the second step is another binding-step that is highly dependent on structure and ATP hydrolysis. To accomplish attaching a Ub-chain to the substrate, the Ub is activated the E1 enzyme. There is only one form of E1 in mammalian cells (34). The E1 forms an active Ub-thioester and is then the activated Ub is transferred to an E2. E2's are Ubcarrier proteins. The final enzyme is called E3 and this attaches the Ub to the lysine residue (specifically the ɛ-amino group) of the substrate. E3's can also attach Ub's to

other Ub's to form a Ub-chain (33) and (71). E2's and E3's can spare certain proteins as these enzymes have the ability to ubiquitinate specific proteins at higher rates (34). Within mammalian cells, there are 10-15 E2's and more than 12 E3's (34, 35). By having a wide range of these enzymes, the cell can be very selective in its ability to degrade proteins (187). The final category of enzymes are the deubiquitinating enzymes (DUB). DUB enzymes are cysteine proteases that remove the Ub from substrate. The removal of Ub serve to disallow improper protein degradation, allowing the cell to recycle Ub-chains to future substrates and preclude Ub-chains from building up within the 20s and causing a decrease in functional efficiency (94).

The 26s proteasome is comprised of 3 separate parts. There are two 19s regulatory particles that act as gateways into the proteasome. The 19s particles bookend the central portion of the 26s proteasome which is the 20s core particle. The 20s particle has two rings that make a barrel-type structure. Each ring has seven subunits, β 1- β 7. There are 3 sites within each ring that have proteolytic capabilities, β 1, β 2, and β 5. These catalytic sites face inwards and are able to sever after any amino acid. While the catalytic sites can excise after any amino acid, the active sites appear to have preferences. These active sites within the proteasome are threonine proteases (111). The active sites use the side-chain of the N-terminal threonine residue to cleave peptide bonds. The β 1 subunit demonstrates a caspase-like activity and cuts after aspartic acid residues. β 2 subunit has trypsin-like behavior and cleaves after basic amino acid residues. The final active subunit, β 5, shows chymotrypsin-like behavior and appears to be the most important in rate of substrate degradation (188). The active sites within the core unit appear to have an allosteric regulation that regulates the activity of the other active sites. If a substrate that is targeted for degradation has sites that can be cleaved by the β 5 sites, the β 1 and β 2 sites become activated at an elevated rate. If there is a predominant β 1 target substrate, the β 2 and β 5 sites are inhibited. As the β 5 site is the rate limiting proteolytic site within the 26s proteasome, this would lead to a decrease in overall protein degradation rate. Research has proposed that allosteric inhibition or activation of the active sites within the 26s proteasome allow for a "bite and chew" mechanism (108). The "bite" being the activation of the β 5 sites and the "chew" referring to the breaking of the remaining scissile bonds within the substrate by the additional active sites. Earlier work from Akopian et al (1997) showed that not all active sites are required for degradation of targets, but the most efficient degradation is achieved when all active sites are uninhibited (3).

The 19s cap/lid has 6 subunits, Rpt1-6. These subunits consume ATP to stimulate proteolytic function, unfold the substrate, and open the α -ring gate. The unfolded substrate is then translocated to the 20s for degradation. The 19s also contains subunits that are not involved with the ATP consumption steps which are called Rpn10 and Rpn13. These subunits help with substrate recognition and association between the lid and the base (102). DUB's are also present on the caps.

The structure of the substrate can determine the amount of time that the substrate and 26s structure have to interact and complete the degradation process. If a substrate is multi-ubquitylated, the dwell time can be increased when compared to the same substrate with a single Ub-chain (136). In contrast, when Ub-chains become forked chains (Ub-chains are formed on contiguous lysines) the attached substrate will not be degraded (103). Proteasomes can degrade substrates with branched chains (lysines are separated by the donor Ub) with normal efficiency (153). When a substrate has a highly repetitive sequence (polyglutamines and polyalanines), the ability to translocate to the 26s (117) is negatively impacted and possibly causes aggregation of these potentially toxic sequences in diseases such as ALS, muscular dystrophies, and other neurodegenerative diseases (222). The rate of removal of the Ub chain is a primary element of dwell time of the substrate within the 26s proteasome. Substrates with more (or longer) Ub-chains would have a higher dwell time than substrates with fewer (or shorter) Ub-chains (136). The ubiquitin chain position and size could be an additional layer of control for degradation as the degree of branching and length of ubiquitin chain(s) have an inverse relationship with the affinity of the substrate to the 26s proteasome. The position of the first ubiquitinated lysine is also an important factor for degradation rate. If the first ubiquitinated lysine is located near the N-terminus of a substrate, that substrate has a faster degradation rate (136).

Once the substrate is bound to the 26s, ATP hydrolysis is activated. Degradation through the Ub-Proteasome system is an ATP-dependent process. There are 6 ATPases units within the 19s subunit. When the substrate is more tightly bound or has a higher degree of branching in the ubiquitin-chain(s), the energy expended and time to degrade the substrate increases 2-3 fold (178). The rate of degradation of ubiquitinated substrates, is directly related to the rate of ATP hydrolysis. Degradation of substrates is an extremely ATP-intensive, but rapidly occurring process. To degrade a ubiquitinated

DHFR molecule, a 26s proteasome requires ~50-80 ATP and ~ 23 seconds (178). As the size of the substrate increases, the ATP requirements and time to degrade will increase in proportion. This increase in time is due to the 26s to unwind and degrade each domain (191).

The products of 26s or 20s degradation range from 2-24 amino acids in length (195). In 1994, the "molecular ruler" was proposed by Wenzel et al. (1994). Their work postulates that proteasomes generate peptide fragments within a small range of sizes. Specifically, all peptide fragments would be within 7-9 amino acid residues (233). However, this work has been refuted (109, 110). The main concerns with the "molecular ruler" hypothesis stems from the experimental design and the lack of repeatability from other laboratories. The peptide fragments were collected after an extended incubation with 20s proteasomes. These core unit proteasomes only degrade unfolded proteins and could continually degrade protein fragments if kept in close proximity for extended periods of time. The work from Wenzel et al. also did not quantify the amount of peptide fragments within each subset of peptide length (233). The proteins that were utilized were human insulin and hemoglobin. These proteins do not represent a wide variety of proteins that are typically found within the intracellular environment. Kisselev, et al.'s work states that while the majority of products are 6-10 amino acid residues, there is a much larger range of peptides generated(109, 110). Kisselev and colleagues utilized proteins that ranged from 70-471 residues. There are two methods to determine the size of peptide fragments. The first is the "Two Rates" method and the second is the "Acid Hydrolysis" method (109). The work from Kisselev (1997)

described the number of peptide incisions per minute increase as the molecule size decreases (3). Conversely, the substrate increases in the length the number of cuts by the proteasome increases as well.

The oligopeptides generated from the 26s proteasome are then degraded by cytosolic peptidases. The products of this degradation are then further degraded by aminopeptidases. Botbol and Scornik have demonstrated that treatment with aminopeptidase bestatin, which targets aminopeptidases B and N, allows for the accretion of small peptides that range in length from 2-5 residues (22, 23, 199). This yields free amino acids that will be rapidly used by the cell for synthesis of new proteins, especially under starvation conditions. If these peptides were to accumulate within the cytosol, the concentration of olipeptides could become toxic (209).

Tripeptidyl peptidase II (TPP-II) is an oligopeptidase that removes N-terminal tripeptides in a stepwise fashion from oligopeptides (183). A large molecular weight enzyme was identified that is present in humans, rats and rabbits (107). The enzyme was found within several tissues that included liver, kindey, brain and skeletal muscle. TPP-II generates peptide fragments 7-9 residues from peptides longer than 15 residues (184). Reits et al. also produced data that would indicate that aminopeptidases are the primary digesters of olipeptides that are smaller than 15 residues (184). Work performed by Botbol and Scornik (20) report that application of aminopeptidase inhibitors culminated in accumulation of low weight oligopeptides with fewer than 5 amino acid residues (22).

The initial action to signal for the degradation of muscle mass is the activation of caspase-3, regardless of pathophysiology (55). When L6 muscle cells were incubated

with staurosporine, caspase-3 activation increased and protein degradation through the Ub-proteasome pathway was elevated. The degradation through the 26s proteasome was quantified by measuring the 14kDa actin fragments from the cell lysates. When L6 cells were serum deprived, L6 cells exhibit increased cleavage of actin filaments that are subsequently degraded. Du et al. also established evidence that calpain is not required for the accumulation of actin filaments post-serum deprivation. This finding was supported when calpain inhibitor ALLN was added and no further actin fragments were found in the samples (49).

Muscle RING finger protein 1 (MuRF1) is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that is required for degradation of myosin heavy chain (MHC). MuRF1 localizes to the sarcomere, specifically to titin. This protein is known to stabilize the M-line region within the sarcomere (147). MuRF1 is required for degradation of MHC in C2C12 myotubes. Therefore, the inhibition of MURF1, decreases the loss of MHC (36). Actin levels were found to remain unchanged during treatment. The levels of all but one of MHC isoforms were found to be unchanged leading investigators to believe that the alterations in protein levels were due to posttranscriptional events. When the investigators examined if MuRF1 expression was altered by proteasome inhibition by MG132 and epoxomicin, the expression remained unchanged.

Tripartite motif-containing protein 32 (Trim32) ubiquitinates and targets desmin, z-bands and thin filaments (37). Trim32 is an E3 ligase that is expressed throughout the body and mutations within this protein can cause myopathy, certain muscular dystrophies (61) and lower numbers in neurofilaments (120). Trim32 increases

proteolysis during fasting periods; however protein and mRNA levels of Trim32 do not increase during starvation. The destabilization of desmin appears to be the first step to allow Trim32 to further penetrate the Z-bands and its attached thin filaments. This action of Trim 32 will cause a destabilization of the Z-bands and the thin filaments. Actin is Trim32's preferential target but Trim32 also is responsible for disassembly and destruction of desmin filaments. When Trim32 function is diminished by either shRNA or a dominant-negative inhibitor noticeably rescued the decrease the loss of thin filaments and fiber diameter (38).

The degradation of the myofibril during atrophic conditions requires PAX4, a transcription factor, and desmin depolymerization. The desmin cytoskeleton must be phosphorylated and ubiquitinated before depolymerization begins. PAX4 is a transcription factor that induces the gene AAA-ATPase p97/VCP. This depolymerization causes an expedited route for myofibril degradation. Increases in phosphorylation and Trim32-dependent ubiquitination of the desmin filaments were noted shortly after denervation (119). The desmin filaments were then gradually degraded. When Trim-32 was inhibited, desmin filaments and myofibrillar proteins had decreased rates of degradation (196). Down-regulation of PAX4 or of p97/VCP also resulted in reduced myofibril breakdown (226). Fourteen days post denervation, the myofibril degradation is obligated to utilize desmin filament disassociation and PAX4 gene product creation (226).

Tribbles 3 (TRB3) protein is also a key regulator in skeletal muscle turnover and differentiation (30). Akt is negatively impacted by TRB3 by acting downstream of Akt,

but specific action sites have not been researched. Transgenic TRB3 mice had poor muscle function (46% decrease in running distance) and lower muscle mass (23% decrease in muscle mass). Decreased mTOR/s6K1 signalling and a concomitant increase in atrogene production, specifically Fox01 and Fox03a, caused these phenotypic differences (31). Along with the above mentioned differences, atrogin-1 and MuRF-1 transcripts were higher in the transgenic mice. As atrogin-1 and MuRF-1 are E-3 ligases, any elevation could cause an increase in myofibril degradation. The elevation of atrogin-1 and MuRF-1, alterations in mTOR/S6K1 pathway, and decreases in muscle mass and function when TRB3 is genetically modified, demonstrate that TRB3 plays an important role in skeletal muscle metabolism as it decreases the signaling that would cause protein synthesis and also upregulates the signaling that would cause degradation (29, 30).

The velocity of protein degradation is tightly linked to the rate of target-protein ubiquitination (135). Investigators have also demonstrated that the aptitude of the 26s proteasome to degrade is linked to the cAMP-PKA levels. Increasing cAMP levels, through either rolipram (for slow/gradual elevation) or forskolin (for rapid elevation), increases rates of degradation of short-lived proteins (both normal and aberrant) but long-lived proteins were not impacted by higher intracellular levels of cAMP (224). Myotubes harvested post rolipram administration demonstrated a doubling in chymotrypsin-like, trypsin-like, and caspase-like activities. Proteasomal phosphorylation was measured and found to have increased the capability to hydrolyze ubiquitinated proteins and ATP. The rolipram also increased levels of overall 26s proteasomes. The elevated levels of cAMP phosphorylates Rpn6 two-fold higher than control myotubes at serine 14 but not Rpt6 (135).

2.2. Autophagy

Autophagy is a degradative process that is utilized by cells to balance sources of energy, amino acids, and other building blocks in response to a stressor. This process also helps the cell to rid itself of inefficient organelles (peroxisomes, endoplasmic reticulum, and mitochondria), misfolded proteins. Autophagy can be involved in a local immune response (41). There are three types of autophagy; macroautophagy, microautophagy, and selective autophagy. When the term autophagy is used in this manuscript, we will be referring to macroautophagy. Macroautophagy occurs when regions are the cell are encircled by a double membraned structure. Lysosomal based degradation is thought to account for ~20-30% of total intracellular degradation during basal metabolism (39, 84, 113).

2.2.1. Induction

The process of autophagy begins with the induction of the phagophore. Autophagy-related proteins (ATG's) are relocated to specific subcellular locations. This location is referred to as the phagophore assembly site (PAS) and it resides along the phagophore membrane (46). This membrane is typically procured from either the endoplasmic reticulum or the trans-Golgi and endosomes (70). The phagophore begins as a u-shaped membrane. As the phagophore extends, the morphology of the phagophore changes into a sphere-like shape.

2.2.2. Elongation

The elongation of the phagophore is accomplished in part due to the transportation of lipids. The elongation of the phagophore is accomplished by the transmembrane protein Atg 9 (132). Atg9 is activated by the Ulk1 complex. Two other Atg systems are present that mimic ubiquitin conjugation systems that contribute to the regulation of elongation. Atg12-Atg5 complex is required for the elongation and exaggeration of the curvature of the phagophore (70). Atg7 acts like an E1 enzyme and activates Atg12. Upon activation, Atg12 is transferred to Atg5. This transfer is orchestrated by Atg10. This function of Atg10 mimics an E2 enzyme activity. Atg5 then interacts with Atg16L. After this interaction is complete, the Atg-12-Atg5-Atg16L complex is formed. This complex will bind to the external membrane of the phagophore (1). This complex will disassociate once the phagophore is completely formed.

The second Atg system is the Atg8 orthologs (232). Within the Atg8 family, there are two subcategories. The first is the protein microtubule-associated protein light chain 3 (MAP1-LC3). The MAP1-LC3 family includes LC3a, LC3b and LC3c. The second is the γ -aminobutryic acid receptor-associated (GABARAP) proteins. This family encompasses Gabarap, Gabarap 11, Gate16/Gabarap12, and Gabarap13. While the exact roles of these two subfamilies currently requires elucidation, both are essential for the formation of the phagophore. Gabaraps are presumed to aid in the sealing of the phagophore as the Atg-12-Atg5-Atg16L complex is punted from the phagophore membrane (232). LC3's aid in the elongation from the U shape to the sphere shape. Both families play a role with the shepherd protein of p62/SQSTM1 (172).

The life cycle of the LC3 proteins is as follows. The brand new proteins are termed Pro-LC3. The cysteine protease Atg 4 then cleaves Pro-LC3 and the cytosolic form of LC3-1 is produced. As time proceeds, Atg7 acts like an E1 enzyme and Atg3 acts like an E2 enzyme phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) and becomes LC3-II. This form of the protein from the LC3 family is associated with only the autophagosome. The LC3-II are scattered within the inner and outer membranes of the autophagosome. Once the autophagosome is fused with the the lysosome the LC3-II molecules within the autophagosome are digested and the outer LC3-II molecules are are disservered and recycled for future use (Ravikumar et al 2010, autophagy book). Gabarap proteins are treated similarly during autophagic flux. Gabarap-II localizes alongside LC3-II on autophagosomes (106). As the phagophore extends, it will envelope misfolded/damaged/defunct proteins, cytoplasm and certain inoperative organelles within the double-membraned of the now fully formed autophagosome.

2.2.3. Maturation and Fusion

The maturation to a fully functional autophagolysosome or autolysosome requires the autophagosome to go through several progressions. After the ends of the phagophore membranes seal together endosomes attach to the structure (137, 152). The endosome is a structure that provides an environment that intracellular substrates can be housed and sorted before being trafficked to a degradative body (150). The new structure is termed an amphisome (16). The endosome aids in maturation by furnishing the amphisome with the required accouterment to attach to the lysosome (214). The authors suggested that the fusion of the autophagsome with the endosome and ultimately

with the lysosome shared procedural similarities with the process employed with the fusion of synaptic vesicles with the presynaptic membrane. The fusion with the lysosome is the final step before the amphisome can achieve functionality.

Once the aforementioned steps have been completed, the autophagolysosome becomes a fully functional degradatory body that the cell can utilize. The contents within the autophagolysosome are now subject to degradation with the wide variety of proteolytic hydrolases (155, 201). The hydrolases found within an autophagolysosome are varied to help ensure degradation of the large assortment of potential proteins and structures than can be enveloped by the autophagic process. Along with the cytosolic cargo within the autophagolysosome, the inner membrane is dissolved. Work from Schroder et al. detailed over 50 subcategories that include "proteinases, peptidases, nucleases, glycosidases, sulphatases, lipases, etc." (197). These hydrolases require an acidic environment that the lysosome and autophagolysosome maintain at approximately 4.5-5 pH. Cathepsins, specifically B and D, are the main degraders of the cytosolic cargo within the autophagic process. Of particular interest to this dissertation, these two cathepsins are also reported to be major players within the degradation of myofibrillar proteins (198). Cathepsin L is the primary hydrolase for degradation of the inner autophagic membrane (207). Inhibition of cathepsin L leads to lowered degradation of the inner membrane and its associated markers (LC3 and GABARAP) (217). The rates of degradation vary based on physiological conditions, cargo content, and rate of malformed proteins (32).

2.2.4. How Intracellular Degradation Systems Provide Amino Acids for Anabolism

Both autophagy and the proteasome generate oligopeptides that once released into the sarcoplasm, can be further degraded by oligopeptidases. These cytosolic peptidases trim the oligopeptides down to di- and tri-peptides which are further cleaved by aminopeptidases resulting in free amino acids. The free amino acids from the cleaved di- and tri-peptides can either be punted out of the sarcoplasm or used as building blocks for protein synthesis. Currently, the accepted hypothesis is that autophagy is only a contributing source of amino acids during times of extra- or intracellular stress such as amino acid starvation (161), lack of growth factors (84, 228), oxidative stress (58, 101, 127), endoplasmic reticulum stress (182, 238) or infection (17, 43, 44). There is a paucity of work that has been done with cells that are not in a pathophysiological state.

The response of the proteasome has been studied in numerous cellular stresses such atrophy (223, 234), infection (159), oxidative damage (121, 164), and several neural disorders (89, 95, 122, 148). Typically, the measurement of 26s function relies on synthetic proteins that have a flourogenic tag. These tagged proteins are then introduced into tubes containing purified 20s and 26s proteasomes from the tissue of interest. If the target proteins are degraded by the 20s or 26s proteasome, then the flourogenic tag can be read on a spectrophotometer. Nonetheless, the contributions of the proteasome are not quantified with in a "free-living" condition. The flourogenic substrates have also been documented to augment the rate of degradation within the proteasome (108), thus obscuring the ability to fully extrapolate findings from these experiments to an intact cell.

21

Extended periods of intracellular degradation, by either catabolic machinery, leads to elevated intracellular levels of amino acids (149, 206, 218, 243). As the amino acid levels rise, this could shift the cell towards an anabolic response. However, the impact of the 26s proteasome and autophagic contribution to intracellular amino acid production have notable drawbacks within the methodology to ascertain the extent of the role of each of these catabolic systems during basal metabolic function in healthy nonstressed cells. Individually, each catabolic system (26s proteasome or autophagy) has been studied with an improvident attitude to the whole system of protein metabolism. Researchers have investigated the impact of the mTORC1 and mTORC2 signaling on both systems but have limited insight on how catabolic machinery can interplay with anabolic signaling to allow for protein synthesis. By utilizing deuterium oxide as a tracer, this removes any issue with interpretation of end products from either catabolic pathway. These experiments aim to identify if there is a level of intercalation between each system and to what extent the role of autophagy or the 26s proteasome plays into protein synthesis within healthy skeletal muscle cells.

3. SIGNALING

3.1. mTOR

Target of rapamycin, TOR, is a protein kinase that lies at the center for many important cellular functions. The discovery of rapamycin in 1964 from the island of Rapa Nui (225), was the start of the scholarly interest in this signaling cascade. The target of rapamycin was not fully understood until 1994 when researchers demonstrated that rapamycin formed a complex with a large kinase (24, 193, 194). TOR is a large serine/threonine protein kinase that is approximately 300kDa and is a main integrator of nutritional status, especially amino acid levels, to the rest of the cell. As amino acid starvation is one of the most potent up-regulators of catabolic flux, it is critical to understand the relationship between catabolic systems and the mTORC complexes. Based on what the anti-catabolic nature of mTORC complexes and the catabolic pathways, the relationship would be counter-regulatory in nature. In this way, as mTORC activity increases, catabolic activities would decrease and vice versa. There have been attempts to delineate the relationship between mTORC complexes and the catabolic machinery (11, 128, 139), but with a focus on specific signaling molecules instead of whole system outcomes.

mTOR has multiple separate and distinct complexes that are more or less resolved, but the present study will focus on the two more widely known complexes called mTORC1(RAPTOR) and mTORC2 (RICTOR). mTORC1 responds to variety of environmental factors such as stress, oxygen, energy, nutrients, and growth factors. After receiving these inputs from the cell, mTORC1 will effect autophagy, protein synthesis, lipid and nucleotide synthesis, and glucose metabolism. mTORC2 also responds to intracellular growth factors. mTORC2 mediates glucose metabolism, survival and proliferation, and arrangement of the cytoskeleton. Both of the subunits of mTOR play a large role in the regulation of protein metabolim. The impact of each subunit will be discussed below.

3.1.1. mTORC1

mTORC1 is comprised of the following subunits: raptor, GβL/mLst8, PRAS 40, and DEPTOR. As amino acid levels deplete within the cell, mTORC1 activity is decreased, allowing the process of autophagy to proceed. The ability to detect amino acid levels is executed through a system that includes RAG GTPases, Ragulator and v-ATPases (96). This is a vital transition as the process of autophagy can supply the cell with much needed amino acids during times of depletion (210).

mTORC1 also is a significant player in the cell's response to either cellular stress or growth factor signals. In regards to growth factors, the mTORC1 complex is upregulated through the insulin/IFG1 pathway that will then signal through PDK1 and Rheb, and will cause a decrease in autophagic flux. Insulin signaling can also act upon PRAS40 as it is a substrate of AKT (116, 221). If mTORC1 is inhibited through the PTEN and TSC2 cascade, this will allow autophagy to proceed (140). Free radicals that belong to either radical oxygen species (ROS) or radical nitrogen species (RNS) are sensed by 5'AMP-activated kinase (171). AMPK can then either upregulate autophagy directly through ULK1 phosphorylation or inhibit mTOR (104). Hypoxia can also
activate AMPK (53). Another signaling mechanism that can be activated by hypoxic conditions is REDD1 (45). REDD1 negatively regulates mTOR by the TSC1-TSC2 complex.

3.1.1.1. mTORC1 and Autophagy

mTORC1 can also directly inhibit formation of the autophagic vesicles in the beginning stages of autophagy. mTORC1 negatively regulates Atg1/ULK. Atg1/ULK is one of the most important "master-regulators" of the envagination of autophagic vesicles (146). Blocking the activity of this serine/threonine kinase would disallow any ability of autophagy to proceed. Atg1/ULK has been shown to be upregulated if cells were treated with rapamycin or starved (98). ULK1 binds with Atg13 and FIP200 to create a complex. mTORC1 also associates with the complex that is formed between ULK1 by connection with the Raptor subunit and ULK1 (90). Data has demonstrated that Rictor has no binding capacity for the ULK1-Atg13-FIP200 complex. When there is a surplus of nutrients, especially amino acids, mTORC1 will translocate to the ULK1-Atg13-FIP200 complex and phosphorylate Atg13 (63, 90, 97) and ULK1 on inhibitory sites (28, 90, 97). Once these sites have been phosphorylated, autophagy induction will be halted. ULK1-dependent autophagy proceeds when mTORC1 is inhibited by rapamycin (236). It is important to note that rapamycin has been shown to incompletely inhibit mTORC1 (213).

mTORC1 regulates autophagy by preventing transport of TFEB. This blockage of TFEB transport allows mTORC1 to exhibit control of autophagy at another pivotal transcriptional level (143). Inhibition of mTORC1 activity allows for lysosomes to be active. Translocation of mTORC1 to lysosomal membranes does not correlate to the functionality of the lysosome. When the authors inhibited mTORC1 with rapamycin or PP242, mTORC1 attachment on the lysosomal membrane increased. This increase in attachment did not have a concomitant increase in cathepsin B activity.

Codongo and Poüs (citation) showed that lysosomal positioning plays a role in the relationship between mTORC1 and autophagy. In normal conditions the lysosome is anchored near the edge of the cell. When nutrient conditions become suboptimal, the lysosome has an increase in the intra-lysosomal pH. This increase disallows the lysosome to be held at the edge of the cell. This allows the autophagosomes that are developed in the perinuclear area to fuse with the lysosome and advance the autophagic process (180).

3.1.1.2. mTORC2 and Autophagy

During starvation, mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) is inhibited as it is a nutritionally-sensitive kinase. Once mTOR inhibition is in effect, autophagic signaling commences. This allows the double membrane structures utilized by autophagy to be built, chaperone proteins that will shuttle degradative targets to the autophagosomes/autophagolysosome. It was previously demonstrated that mTOR would remain inhibited throughout extended starvation. However, it has been confirmed that mTOR is reactivated 6 hours post-starvation in cell culture by measuring phosphorylation levels of S6-kinase and 4E-BP1. These markers were negatively impacted 2-hours post starvation. The authors also demonstrated that the reactivation of mTOR is required for autophagic lysosome reformation (ALR). This was accomplished by adding the mTOR inhibitor, rapamycin and the level of mTOR substrate phosphorylated declined and the rate of ALR was diminished. This impact lasted beyond 12 hours of starvation. The authors suggested that a small fraction of mTOR colocalizes with LC3 after the double-membrane structures have been formed (241).

Studies have shown that TORC2 is active during autophagic induction in cardiac myocytes by the phosphorylation of the downstream kinase of AKT at Ser 473 (79). TORC2 has been shown to be vital to the formation and biogenesis of production of autophagic bodies. When Rictor was knocked down, the phosphorylation of PKCa/ β was decreased (79). Both Rictor and PKCa/ β are positive regulators of the actin cytoskeleton. Without this activation, the formation of autophagic vesicles was negatively impacted (185).

TORC2 inhibits autophagy by promoting the amount of AKT which in turn increases the phosphorylation of FOX03. This increase in phosphorylation of FOX03 disallows the molecule to promote autophagic flux (138). As mTORC2 is an activator of AKT which then positively regulates mTORC1, the inhibitory effect of mTORC2 on autophagy is not direct. Another path for inhibition is through AKT as a negative regulator of FOX03. FOX03 is a transcription factor that will translocate to the nucleus upon activation and upregulate genes associated with catabolic activity.

mTORC2 has been shown to inhibit chaperone mediated autophagic flux in fibroblasts. The inhibition of chaperone mediate autophagy (CMA) is mediated by AKT. The authors suggest that the substrates of mTORC2 are the component that determines the directionality of its impact on autophagy (8). Inhibition of both

mTORC1 and mTORC2 by the inhibitor AZD8055, lead to autophagic induction in lung cancer cells (205). Concurrent inhibition of both mTORC complexes with OSI-027 in acute myoleogenous leukemia cells also showed induction of autophagic flux (5). OSI-027 demonstrated similar results in chronic myologenous leukemia cells (219). AZD-2014 blocked both mTORC complexes and showed an increase in autophagic cell death in colorectal cancer cells (92). Dramatic suppression of colorectal cancer cell growth by the dual mTORC1 and mTORC2 inhibitor AZD-2014. (92). AZD-2014 demonstrated autophagic induction in heptacullular carcinoma cells (133). When mTORC2 is inhibited by genetic knockouts of Rictor, the mitophagy rates increase in. *C elegans* (9).

Researchers have focused their efforts on examining the interaction between lysosomal mTORC2, PH domain and leucine rich repeat protein phosphatase (PHLPP1) and AKT. Their data show that during nutrient starvation, PHLPP1 (negative regulator of mTORC2) is recruited to the lysosome as mTORC2 activation is not high. However, 15-20 hours into starvation, mTORC2 increases activity. At this juncture, PHLPP1 is brought to the lysosomal membrane to check the anti-autophagic activity of mTORC2 (7). Inhibition of mTORC2 allowed for an increase in autophagic degradation in skeletal muscle cells (138). FoxO3 coordinately activates protein degradation by the autophagic/lysosomal and proteasomal pathways in atrophying muscle cells. This proautophagic state following the inhibition of mTORC2 is arbitrated by FOX03, a proautophagic molecule (144).

The scientific community is not in agreement regarding the impact of mTORC2 on autophagic flux. This lack of agreement could be due, in part, to a lack of systemic

method of measuring autophagic flux. Researchers also have divergent methodologies for measuring mTORC activation levels (of either mTORC1 or mTORC2). The current methods employ "autophagic" inhibitors that have broader targets than just the autophagic signaling cascade. Researchers need a unified and robust methodology to quantitate the extent of autophagic degradation within cells. Once this is achieved, then elucidating the impact of the mTOR complexes on autophagic rate, and the impact of autophagy on anabolism can be accomplished.

3.1.1.3. p62 and mTOR

p62 has three structural domains. Those domains are the C-terminal ubiquitinassociated (UBA) domain, zinc finger domain (Zinc), and N-terminal Phox and Bem1 (PB1) domain (93). Previous work (114, 158, 202), has discussed the possibility of p62 interacting with LC3 directly. This would mean that p62 would be "pulled" to the autophagosome by the binding to LC3. After the p62/LC3 complex is within the autophagosome, it will be degraded alongside the contents of the autophagosome compartments. Ichimura et al. found that there are two hydrophobic pockets and Nterminal basic residues on LC3 that can act as docking regions for p62 (93). This mechanism allows the cells to have a "sorting" mechanism for the content that is destined for the autophagosome. The authors also show that the cells attempt to maintain a constant cytosolic level of p62 (93).

p62 has also been shown to influence mTORC1. It has been demonstrated that raptor is the protein that interacts with p62. mTORC1 and p62 have exhibited a positive feed forward mechanism wherein the higher the level of p62, the higher the level of

mTORC1. The elevated levels of mTORC1 then creates higher levels of p62 (157). The increased levels of mTORC1 has led to tumor promotion in several different cell types. p62 appears to be sensitive to amino acid levels, but not insulin levels. The level of intracellular amino acids will determine if p62 upregulates the anabolic machinery via mTORC1 activation or shift the cellular machinery towards a catabolic preset with an increase in autophagic degradation. The relationship between p62 and mTORC1 positions p62 as an intracellular rheostat that will determine the cells' response to intracellular amino acids.

3.1.1.4. mTORCs and the 26s Proteasome

Determining the directionality of this relationship, and in different metabolic states, has led to a limited amount of papers. The 26s proteasome is the site of degradation of the mTORC1 subunit and its main inhibitor, DEPTOR (64, 176, 247). The ubiquitination of DEPTOR by SCF β TrCP, an E3 ligase, will cause the degradation of DEPTOR, thus allowing for mTORC1 to be active. However, if mTOR is ubiquitinated by SCFFBXW7, a different E3 ligase, the 26s proteasome will degrade the protein (141). This would decrease the ability of the cell to assemble mTORC1, thus decreasing its intracellular activity. SCF β TrCP can also ubiquitinate REDD1, calling for its destruction by the proteasome (100, 246). As REDD1 is a negative upstream regulator of mTORC1, its removal would allow for mTORC1 to be active.

Ablation of mTORC1 has been shown to decrease muscle mass across species and tissues (18, 166, 237, 240). The potential for interaction of mTORC1 and the 26s proteasome can occur on different strata. The first being that the individual components of the 26s proteasome are themselves proteins. The 19s regulatory caps and the 20s core particle must first be synthesized by the cell before assembly into the final 26s complex. The rate of production of these particles is mediated by mTORC1 in a NRF1 dependent manner (25). mTORC1 could also upregulate mRNA translation of upstream proteasome inhibitors (211). However, other researchers have shown that mTORC1 inhibition increases 26s proteasomal function by noting an increase of a specific subunit of the 20s core particle (129), enhancing rate of protein ubiquitination (with no change in 26s content) (245). Conversely, other researchers have found mTORC1 activation increases rates of degradation by increasing 26s content to supply amino acids for sustained protein synthesis (242).

4. INHIBITORS

4.1. Catabolic Inhibitors

4.1.1. 26s Inhibitor – MG-262

MG-262 is a peptidyl boronate that while it requires binding, does not hydrolyze ATP to initiate inhibition (60). By having a peptide and boronic moiety, MG-262 inhibits the chymotryptic activity of the 20S proteasome. The 20S proteasome is responsible for total degradation after the protein has been tagged with ubiquitins by the ubiquitin-protein ligase, E3 (87). By inhibiting at the 20S stage of degradation, it will disallow any processing of the protein into smaller peptides.

4.1.2. Autophagic Inhibitor – NSC 185058

NSC 185058 is a recently discovered autophagic inhibitor. This compound effectively inhibits ATG4B activity in osteosarcoma tumors. More importantly, NSC 185058 demonstrated no effect on the mTOR or PI3K signaling cascades. The inhibition of ATG4B disallows autophagy, a specific proteolytic pathway that uses the lysosome in the final stage (2).

4.2. Anabolic Inhibitors

There are two prominent anabolic inhibitors that are widely used in the literature; Rapamycin and Torin1. Rapamycin is a naturally occurring substance that inhibitirs mTORC1, initially isolated from Streptomyces hygroscopius (77). Rapamycin inhibits the signaling functionality of the mTORC1 complex (56, 229). Rapamycin binds to its intracellular receptor FKBP12 which then allows for inhibition of mTORC1 (212). Rapamycin has also been shown to reversibly inhibit 20s proteasome function by altering the conformation of the proteasomal gate, thereby slowing down degradation of ubiquitinated targets (168). However, mTORC2 appears to be resistant to the effects of Rapamycin (56, 212, 229). Torin1 is a man-made substance that is an ATP-competitive inhibitor that has been shown to inhibit both mTORC1 and mTORC2 complexes (77, 177).

5. DEUTERIUM OXIDE AND THE MEASURE OF PROTEIN SYNTHESIS

Mensuration of anabolic and catabolic rates has been achieved using labeled amino acids as tracers (227). These protocols employ a primed continuous infusion, continuous infusion, or flooding dose infusions (186). The choice of application will depend on subject type (human, animal, or cell culture). The radioactive label is either injected or infused with the isotope of choice into the circulatory system and a measurement is taken over a time period to quantify the rate of incorporation of the label into tissue protein. A tracer (labeled amino acid) and tracee (same amino acid lacking a label) are introduced to the subject. The researchers within the field of protein synthesis, have favored using a radiolabeled carbon atom ([14C]) or tritium ([3H]) on an amino acid(179). Amino acid that receives the radiolabel is typically either leucine or phenylalanine. These amino acids have yielded similar results, in terms of rates of synthesis. Phenylalanine has generated a preference amongst researchers as it is not oxidized in skeletal muscle. The choice of phenylalanine could lead to issues with calculation of protein synthesis measurements (75, 165).

The delivery of the radiolabeled and unlabeled amino acid cocktail can be accomplished in a variety of timing protocols. The continuous infusion is accomplished by providing the same amount of tracer:tracee over the time period of the study. The primed-constant infusion is essentially a two part protocol. The first part being that the subject is given a large bolus dose of the cocktail. A constant infusion of the cocktail is then provided for the remaining time period. The final application method, flooding dose, is achieved by administering a large, supraphysiological dose, in a short period of time (seconds to minutes). Protein synthesis values from these studies are $\sim 2\%$ (in humans) (235) and 3-20+% (in rats) (65). These methodologies have notable concerns in regards to subjects eating, cost of procedure, and increased effort to handle the radiolabeled waste. Subjects can consume food before the initial infusion and potentially dilute the precursor pool. Consumption of food is an issue as it will confound the measurement of protein synthesis. To eliminate this problem, the study cannot be achieved in a free-living state. Subjects must be housed and monitored throughout the entirety of the study. Housing subjects for the entirety of the study raises the direct cost of the study, as researchers must account for the bed space, personnel, and subject compensation for time of the study. Once the samples are collected, the time, effort and money to properly dispose of the radioactive material is important to consider.

Fortunately, there is an alternative to radiolabel tracers. Developed in 1941, Hans Ussing developed a methodology that allows for the measurement of protein synthesis utilizing deuterium oxide. Once inside the body, 2H atoms rapidly equilibrate and attach to amino acids prior to new synthesized proteins (50). Application of deuterium oxide also is much easier than radio-labeled tracer methods, as subjects can orally imbibe the deuterium oxide. It is important to note, that small quantities should be consumed at a time to allow the inner ear of the subject to acclimate to the deuterium oxide. Deuterium oxide achieves labeling of amino acids by transfer of the H2 with H on amino acids during transamination (167). Deuterium oxide is relatively inexpensive and has a long half-life in body water. This allows deuterium oxide to be an ideal candidate for long term protein synthesis research endeavors. Our research group focuses on alanine for quantification, as the structure of alanine allows for only one exchange which results in a simple and straightforward calculation for protein synthesis. The label remains attached during incorporation within a protein. Deuterium oxide labeling is not impacted by feeding (59). The lack of interference from feeding enables researchers to have project participants in a free-living state. As subjects do not need to be housed and monitored throughout the study, the utilization of deuterium oxide also decreases cost associated with the study. To our knowledge, there is no literature regarding the utilization of deuterium oxide to measure the impact of catabolism on protein synthesis.

6. MATERIALS AND METHODS

6.1. Approach Used

All methodologies used for the current study were in compliance and approved by Texas A&M University Biosafety committee. C2/C12 murine myotubes were cultured and assessed based on 24 hour exposure to inhibitors and deuterium oxide. Primary analyses included protein synthesis and signaling activity. A sample of the C2/C12 cell culture was collected and prepared for quantification of total label incorporation using gas chromatogram- mass spectrometry (GCMS). All cells were prepped for GCMS and immunoblotting after administration of deuterium oxide. Fractional Synthesis Rates (FSR) were quantified to determine protein rates

6.2. Cell Culture

Fifth passage C2/C12 myoblasts were grown on 10cm plates and passed until they reached the seventh passage. The growth media that was utilized was 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin, 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), with DMEM with sodium pyruvate serving as a base. At approximately 70% confluency, the myoblasts were given differentiation media to help shift the myoblasts into myotubes. The Differentiation Media was comprised of 2.5% horse serum, 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin and .04% insulin-transferrin-selenium. Myoblasts began to differentiate after 48 hours on Differentiation Media. Myotubes were fed for 6 days before applying inhibitor cocktail and deuterium oxide.

6.3. Protein Synthesis Rates

Protein synthesis was quantified using rates of accumulation of labeled peptides found in the cytosolic and myofibrillar compartment. This protein synthesis measurement spanned 24 hours to determine impact of catabolic (NSC 185058 at 100 uM and MG-262 at .01 uM) and anabolic (Torin1 25 uM and Rapamycin 50 uM) inhibitors over time. FSR will be assessed using deuterium oxide incorporation of (2H) into the myotubes and the cell culture media. Deuterium oxide is added at 4% for 24 hours prior to harvest. The cell culture media served as the precursor pool. The harvest technique began with aspiration of the media to be reserved for later preparation. The cells were then rinsed with two cycles of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and then the cells were removed from the plate. The cells were then spun at 150 g for 5 minutes to further remove any lingering PBS. Cell pellets were sonicated in 0.3mL Norris Buffer ([25 mM Hepes, 25 mM benzamidine, 10mM MgCl2, 5 mM-glycerophosphate, 4 mM EDTA, 2 mM PMSF, 0.2 mM ATP, 0.5% protease inhibitor cocktail P8340 (v/v; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), 0.1% Triton X-100 (v/v), 10 mM activated Na3VO4, and 100 mM NaF, pH 7.4]. Samples were left on ice for one hour. Samples were spun at 30,000 g for 30 minutes at 4°C. Post spin, the cytosolic fraction was decanted into a separate tube and reserved for either immunoblot analysis (see below for methods).

The myofibrillar pellet underwent another homogenization step, but in 10% (w/v) TCA. Samples were moved to the centrifuge at 5,000 g and spun for 15 minutes at 4°C. Post-spin the supernatant was decanted and discarded. This supernatant contains unbound free amino acids that are not desired for the FSR calculation. Another volume of TCA was added to the sample, pellet is re-suspended and spun at the above specifications. The process of decanting the supernatant was performed for a total of three times for each sample. The samples were then placed on heat (100° C) for 24 hours with 0.4 mL of 6N HCl. 50 µL of sample was taken and placed in a fresh conical tube and dried down. 50 µL of a 3:2:1 (v/v/v) solution of methyl-8 (N,N-dimethylformamide dimethyl acetal) (Thermo Fisher Scientific,Waltham, MA), methanol, and acetonitrile for 1 h at 70°C to determine 2H-labeling of alanine on its methyl-8 derivative. The media that was reserved from the cell plates had an aliquot removed that was introduced to 10N NaOH and a 5% acetone in acetonitrile solution for 24 hours. Samples were extracted by adding 0.6mL of n-Hexane. All samples were enumerated in duplicate using an Agilent 789A GC coupled with an Agilent 5975C VL MSD (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA), as described previously (67, 162, 163).

FSR was calculated using the following equation:

$$FSR = \frac{[MPE_{myo}]}{3.7*[MPE_{plasma}]*T}$$

Where MPE_{MYO} represents the amount of protein bound ²H-alanine (mole percent excess), MPE_{PLASMA} is the quantity of ²H₂O in the media on the cells, T is the total time of incorporation and 3.7 represents the exchange of ²H between body water and free alanine (66, 69).

6.4. Immunoblot Analyses

To quantify gatekeeper proteins within the anabolic signaling cascade, matching quantities of proteins obtained from C2C12 skeletal muscle samples were placed onto SDS-PAGE gels. Samples were placed into a 4X Laemmli buffer. Samples were randomized to each gel. The gels separated the proteins based on their molecular weight. Then the transfer from the gel to the blotting membrane will occur, as described in Otter et al., (170). The gels will run for 20 minutes at 20 mA and then 40 minutes at 40 mA in a standard electrode buffer. Gels are maintained at 4°C for the entirety of the electrophoresis. This biphasic setup allows the proteins to slowly exit the well of the gel and smoothly transfer onto the body of gel. To transfer the proteins, a semi-dry method will be utilized. The transfer takes 55 minutes and the proteins will be transferred to either a nitrocellulose membrane. The membrane will be soaked in Otter buffer for 30 minutes prior to transfer (170).

After the transfer is complete, membranes will be exposed to Ponceau S. An image of the membrane will be captured and used to determine equal loading and transfer across the membrane. Membranes used for immunoblotting will be transferred to a sealed bag with 5% (w/v) nonfat dry milk in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) for 1 hour. The membrane is removed from the blocking buffer and is transferred to the primary antibody (1:1,000) at 4°C. Primary antibodies cover the signaling pathway downstream of mTOR. Membranes are rinsed in 1 X TBS and then incubated in a secondary antibody (1:2,000) on a rocker to provide gentle agitation at room temperature for 1 hour. 1 X TBS was placed on the membrane again to wash it. Enhanced chemiluminescense will be added to the membrane for a total of 5-10 minutes. Detection was accomplished by LAS 3000 coupled with Image Reader LAS-4000. Cell samples will be expressed relative to the control sample.

6.5. Statistical Analyses

All analyses used GraphPad Prism. One-way ANOVA was used to compare groups, and when significant F ratios are present, Tukey's post-hoc procedure will be used to test the differences between the group means.

7. RESULTS

7.1. Fractional Synthesis Rates

To date, few studies exist that have been designed to examine the impact of proteolysis on anabolic outcomes, and assessments were limited to the understanding of nitrogen balance (230). They determined that periods of elevated proteolysis, as evidenced by net negative nitrogen balance, was a key modulator of consequent protein synthesis, that approach was not sufficient to assess the impact on specific proteolytic mechanisms (81). Although much can be learned from these antecedent studies, the present study focused on the contribution of two major proteolytic systems (autophagic and proteosomal) with the utilization of the next-generation inhibitors in murine skeletal muscle. The two catabolic systems of autophagy and the 26s proteasome are largely believed to operate as individual pathways, and the majority of research in this area has focused on how the mTOR pathway affects the autophagic or 26s systems. However, there is a paucity of information concerning the opposite directionality of the catabolic pathways impacting global protein synthesis or mTOR signaling. To assess the impact of specific proteolytic systems on mTOR-mediated anabolism, we chose to use NSC 185058, which inhibits ATG4B and is a regulator of autophagosome maturation. To assess autophagy-independent proteolysis, we used MG 262, a boronic peptide acid, which inhibits the chymotryptic activity of the proteasome. Further, to assess the impact of how each or both proteolytic inhibitors affected the mTOR pathways, we used rapamycin, a naturally occurring toxin that inhibits the TORC1 complex, and/or Torin1, which inactivates both TORC1 and TORC2 complexes. By utilizing these specific

inhibitors, it allowed us to elucidate the impact of specific catabolic machinery, and ultimately their end products, on the anabolic function of murine myotubes.

7.1.1. Single Inhibitor

NSC 185058 Lowers Protein Synthesis Rates Similarly as Torin 1





Figure 1 Single Inhibitor Application Myofibrillar Fractional Synthesis Rates. Deuterium oxide tracer methods were used to quantify 24 hour cumulative myofibrillar FSR in C2C12 myotubes, n=5. Values are means with ± SE. Bars displaying a p-value are statistically different from the bar on the other side of the comparison.

The first series of studies implemented the aforementioned inhibitors to

determine if a particular component of either the catabolic pathway impacted anabolic function when compared to the well characterized effect of Rapamycin or Torin 1. Our results indicated that Rapamycin and MG-262 had no impact on FSR when compared to DMSO control cells. As expected, complete inhibition of mTOR complexes with Torin 1 significantly lowered FSR when compared to Control (p=0.0012), Rapamycin

(p=0.0325) and MG 262 (p=0.0173). Surprisingly, NSC 185058, an autophagic

inhibitor, lowered myofibrillar FSR in murine myotubes (vs Control; p=0.0040).

7.1.2. Double Inhibitor

Combination of NSC 185058 and Torin 1 has Additive Effect to Achieve Maximally

Decreased FSR



Double Inhibitor Application Raw FSR

Figure 2 Double Inhibitor Application Myofibrillar Fractional Synthesis Rates. Deuterium oxide tracer methods were used to quantify 24 hour cumulative myofibrillar FSR in C2C12 myotubes n=5. Values are means with ± SE. Bars displaying a p-value are statistically different from the bar on the other side of the comparison

The next series of studies expanded on our initial inhibitor work by assessing

specific combinations of two inhibitors on murine myobtube FSR. Treatment with

Rapamycin + MG-262 numerically lowered FSR, but was not significant relative to control. Rapamycin + NSC 185058 lowered FSR beyond the Rapamycin + MG-262 treatment (p=0.0111). When both catabolic inhibitors, MG-262 and NSC 185058, were combined, FSR was lowered significantly (vs Control; p = 0.0002). As anticipated, cells incubated with the anabolic inhibitor, Torin 1, had on of the lowest FSRs. Torin1 + NSC 185058 resulted in the lowest FSR (p<0.0001), and that rate was lower than any experiments from the single inhibitor studies. Of particular interest is that inclusion of NSC 185058 had lower FSR when compared to Control regardless of the other inhibitor, and Rapamycin + NSC 185058 was not different than Torin 1 + NSC 185058 (p=0.0839). These results could signify that autophagic degradation plays an important and sizeable role in anabolic capacity of myotubes.

7.1.3. Triple Inhibitor

Triple Inhibitor Application Does Not Hinder FSR Beyond Previous Inhibitor Combinations



Triple Inhibitor Application FSR

Treatment Groups

Figure 3 Triple Inhibitor Application Myofibrillar Fractional Synthesis Rates. Deuterium oxide tracer methods were used to quantify 24 hour cumulative myofibrillar FSR in C2C12 myotubes, n=3. Values are means with ± SE. Bars displaying a p-value are statistically different from the bar on the other side of the comparison

This cohort of murine myotubes was exposed to both MG-262 and NSC 185058 and one anabolic inhibitor (either Torin 1 or Rapamycin) in order to characterize the impact of general proteolytic inhibition on protein synthesis (DMSO) and when one or both mTOR complexes were inhibited. As anticipated, the Torin 1 group had the lowest FSR (p=0.0018). As Torin 1 inhibits two TORC (1 and 2) complexes, it follows that this group should have the largest decrement in FSR. Interestingly, inclusion of Rapamycin with the two proteolytic inhibitors resulted in a lower FSR when compared to controls

(p=0.0505), but that group was different than the Torin 1 group with both proteolytic inhibitors (p=0.0405).

7.2. Western Blotting

While it appears that autophagic inhibition impacts FSR, results from the above work cannot determine if the resulting inhibition was due to a potentially rate-limiting availability of amino acids with autophagic inhibition, or a more direct influence of autophagy on the mTOR pathway. To elucidate the activity of mTOR and its consequent FSR in these murine myotubes, we examined the effects of the anabolic and catabolic inhibitors on the expression and phosphorylation of hallmark mTOR targets that control several key aspects of protein synthesis. To establish the activity of the mTOR pathway, we assessed the downstream targets of p70S6K and eIF4EBP1. p70S6k is a Ser/Thr protein kinase that is responsible for phosphorylation of ribosomal protein s6 (rps6). eIF4EBP1 is a potent binding protein that prevents its binding partner (eIF4E) from participating in mTOR-mediated anabolism. Together, these two specific mTOR signaling indicators provide excellent insight as to events occurring in the anabolic cascade.

7.2.1. p70S6K

7.2.1.1. Single Inhibitor

NSC 185058 Lowers Phospho: Total p70S6K Ratio in a Similar Fashion to Torin1



Figure 4 Expression of p7086K with Single Inhibitor Application. Immunoblot of the anabolic protein p7086K in C2C12 myotubes. Assessed as phosphorylated protein (left), total protein (center) and phosphorylated protein to total (right). Values are means ± SE.

Proteasomal inhibitor MG-262 exhibited a hyperphosphorylated p70S6K relative to any other single inhibitor treatment. MG-262 also had the highest level of Total p7026K which provided the highest total ratio of phospho/total (p70S6K^{thr389}/p70S6K) ratio. This data supports the FSR of the MG-262 cohort, lower levels of phospho p70S6K, relative to the other catabolic inhibitor, which was not statistically different from control. In contrast, the NSC 185058 treatment had lower phospho/total (p70S6K^{thr389}/p70S6K) ratio. The lower phospho/total ratio supports the lowered FSR of the NSC 185058 cohort. Both of the anabolic inhibitors decreased phospho p70S6K levels, with Torin 1 having the greatest effect. Torin 1 application lowered the phospho/total (p70S6K^{thr389}/p70S6K) ratio to the lowest of any single inhibitor.

7.2.1.2. Double Inhibitor

NSC 185058 Acts in an mTORC1 Independent Manner to Lower Activation of p70S6K



Figure 5 Expression of p70S6K with Double Inhibitor Application. Immunoblot of the anabolic protein p70S6K in C2C12 myotubes. Assessed as phosphorylated protein (left), total protein (center) and phosphorylated protein to total (right). Values are means ± SE.

Application of solely catabolic inhibitors (MG-262 and NSC 185058) increased phospho p70S6K levels above control values, with a similar but smaller impact on total p70S6K values. When Rapamycin was paired with MG-262 or NSC 185058 both phospho and total levels of p70S6K decreased. The treatment of NSC 185058 with Rapamycin lowered the phospho:total ratio of (p70S6K^{thr389}/p70S6K). This could indicate an mTORC1 independent (as Rapamycin is already inhibiting mTORC1), autophagic reliant mechanism that allows for crosstalk between both the catabolic and anabolic pathways within the cytosol. This mechanism could be related to the discontinued contribution of autophagy to the production of intracellular amino acids, which the myotube may prefer to extracellular amino acids, but it is yet undefined. NSC 185058 could also impact factors relating to the translation of p70S6k. All groups with NSC 185058 inhibitor showed decreased levels of phospho/total p70S6K. Again, Torin 1 + NSC 185058 decreased the numerical value of the phospho p70S6K levels the most, leading to the lowest phospho/total (p70S6K^{thr389}/p70S6K) ratio. This is to be expected with both mTORC1 and mTORC2 being inhibited by Torin 1.

7.2.1.3. Triple Inhibitor

Inhibition through Torin1 with addition of NSC 185058 Lowers Phospho: Total P70S6K Beyond Inhibition of mTORC1



Figure 6 Expression of p70S6K with Triple Inhibitor Application. Immunoblot of the anabolic protein p70S6K in C2C12 myotubes. Assessed as phosphorylated protein (left), total protein (center) and phosphorylated protein to total (right). Values are means ± SE.

Each anabolic inhibitor was applied with both catabolic inhibitors. This set of

treatments would yield information regarding the impact of both proteolytic systems when either mTORC1 (Rapamycin) or mTORC1 and mTORC2 (Torin 1) is inhibited. Both combinations yielded lower levels of phospho p70S6K compared to control. There was no difference within treatment groups for phospho p70S6K levels. The trend of Rapamycin + MG-262 + NSC 185058 and Torin 1 + MG-262 + NSC 185058 having numerically lower values continued for total p70S6K levels, with the Torin1 combination generating the lowest value. Consequently, Rapamycin + MG 262 + NSC 185058 had decreased the phospho/total (p70S6K^{thr389}/p70S6K) ratio from control, while Torin 1 + MG-262 + NSC 185058 treatment had the lowest phospho/total (p70S6K^{thr389}/p70S6K) ratio. As Torin 1 inhibits mTORC1 and mTORC2 it follows that this combination had the lowest values compared to only inhibiting mTORC1.

7.2.2. eIF4EBP1

7.2.2.1. Single Inhibitor







NSC 185058 treatment elevated phospho eIF4EBP1 levels relative to Control

(p=0.8086). Whereas MG-262 and Rapamycin had little effect on eiF4EBP1^{thr37/46}

relative to control. Torin 1 lowered eiF4EBP1^{thr37/46} to the greatest degree, to 10% of

Control values. Total eIF4EBP1 levels were relatively conserved across treatments with

no group being different within the cohort. The ratio of phospho/total ratios of eiF4EBP1 were relatively conserved, except for Torin1 lowering the ratio the most. Torin 1 lowered Phospho:Total ratios of eIF4EBP1 when compared to Rapamycin application.

7.2.2.2. Double Inhibitor

eIF4EBP1 Responds to mTOR Inhibitors



Figure 8 Expression of eIF4EBP1 with Double Inhibitor Application. Immunoblot of the anabolic protein eIF4EBP1 in C2C12 myotubes. Assessed as phosphorylated protein (left), total protein (center) and phosphorylated protein to total (right). Values are means ± SE.

Notably, application of MG-262 and NSC 185058 appears to have an additive

effect when applied together and increase phosphorylated eiF4EBP1 levels beyond control and the respective single inhibitor application. However, when either catabolic inhibitor is separated and paired with Torin1, phosphorylated eiF4EBP1^{thr37/46} levels decline. Phospho-4EBP1 was 31% lower in Torin 1 + MG-262 and 65% lower in Torin 1 + NSC 185058. This suggests that NSC 185058 application is not impacting mTORC signal transduction to eIF4EBP1. The mechanism through which NSC 185058 is achieving lower FSRs may be accomplished through a target downstream from mTORC1 that disallows ribosomal machinery to be upregulated for protein synthesis when autophagic processes are inhibited.

7.2.2.3. Triple Inhibitor

Triple Inhibitor Combinations Do Not Lower Phospho:Total eIF4EBP1 Beyond Levels Obtained with Double Inhibitors



Phospho 4EBP1 Triple Inhibitor Total 4EBP1 Triple Inhibitor Phospho:Total 4EBP1 Triple Inhibitor

Figure 9 Expression of eIF4EBP1 with Triple Inhibitor Application. Immunoblot of the anabolic protein eIF4EBP1 in C2C12 myotubes. Assessed as phosphorylated protein (left), total protein (center) and phosphorylated protein to total (right). Values are means ± SE.

The treatment of Torin 1 + MG-262 + NSC 185058 lowered the phospho

eiF4EBP1 thr37/46 by 63%. Rapamycin + MG-262 + NSC 185058 had an augmented

phospho eiF4EBP1 thr37/46 response, relative to control and the Torin 1 + MG-262 + NSC

185058 group. No phenotypic differences of Total eIF4EBP1 levels across groups was

observed. Ultimately, the Torin 1 + MG-262 + NSC 185058 had the lowest

phospho/total ratios of eiF4EBP1 but did not lower beyond the Torin 1 + NSC 185058

combination in the previous cohort.

7.3. Summary

Together, the present data suggest that the decrement in FSR and key anabolic signaling events is primarily attributed to inhibition of mTORC1 and mTORC2 with the surprising finding that inhibition of the autophagic machinery can impact anabolic outcomes by disrupting mTOR signal transduction. Further, the lack of diminished response from inhibition of the 26s proteasome delineates a separation of roles within the catabolic pathways for contribution to intracellular amino acid content in healthy, metabolically unchallenged myotubes.

8. DISCUSSIONS

Previous research has strongly focused on mTOR signaling and its influence on skeletal muscle synthesis and as it relates to protein degradation in an inhibitory manner. Although prior studies have alluded to potential contributions of catabolic end products serving as building blocks during times of metabolic stress, no studies yet exist that have performed experiments on metabolically stable muscle cells. To our knowledge, this is the first set of experiments to quantify the impact of both autophagy and the 26s proteasome on FSR, specifically in skeletal muscle. The central hypothesis was that both catabolic pathways could impact protein synthesis as these systems provide amino acids within metabolically stable skeletal muscle. The major finding of this study, contrary to our hypothesis, is autophagy was the only proteolytic system to impact FSR. The suppression of protein synthesis through the catabolic autophagic-specific inhibitor NSC 185058 is of notable interest as this inhibitor blocks the formation of the autophagosome at the pre-sequestration stage. Previous versions of autophagic inhibitors target the lysosome, which is at the endpoint of autophagic degradation. NSC 185058 is an upstream inhibitor that targets ATG4B that has no known interactions within the anabolic signaling cascade. Therefore, it is very likely that the suppression of FSR with NSC 185058 treatment was mediated through an mTOR independent mechanism.

FSR in skeletal muscle, and most tissues, is mainly driven by mTOR through the respective complexes of mTORC1 and mTORC2. Rapamycin inhibits only mTORC1, thus suppresses FSR minimally in comparison to Torin 1 which inhibits both mTORC1

and mTORC2. The present results illustrate and support previous findings (18, 42, 48, 80, 237, 248) that mTORC1 and mTORC2 are required for full anabolic potential.

While we recognize autophagy and the 26s proteasome are important, the orchestration of catabolic machinery that allows for robust protein synthesis must be elucidated. Thus, a series of experiments with a combination of anabolic and catabolic inhibitors to allow for separation between catabolic pathways were executed. The application of the 26s inhibitor, MG-262, had minimal impact on FSR, suggesting that the magnitude of amino acids arising from the proteasome does not impose any ratelimiting adjustments to the amino acids necessary for FSR or proteosomal degradation. If so, the present data strongly suggests that proteosomal degradation is not the likely avenue utilized by stable, healthy murine muscle fibers for intracellular amino acid recycling. This could be due to that the overwhelming majority of oligopeptides that form major histocompatibility complex 1 originate from the 26s proteasome (187, 189, 190, 239). Theses oligopeptides could be preferentially trafficked away to disallow incorporation into new proteins. As the ubiquitin tagging and actual degradation by the 26s proteasome is costly, in terms of ATP, cells may have a mechanism to "protect their investment" and allow the oligopeptides from the autophagic system (zero to low ATP cost) to be utilized as building blocks for new proteins. The 26s proteasome is an ATPdependent process that scales with the size of the target of degradation. To conserve ATP for anabolic activity, it would be the smartest route to utilize autophagy for intracellular amino acid recycling. If ATP conservation is of utmost importance, to allow protein synthesis to continue unimpaired, autophagic machinery can also degrade

ubiquitinated targets. By utilizing this route of intracellular degradation cells can reserve ATP for building proteins as autophagy has minimal to non-existent ATP costs. Consequently, when the protein synthesis machinery is in need of amino acid building blocks, and ATP is limited overall, autophagic recycling of aged/exhausted proteins would be the preferred catabolic route.

In an attempt to further expound on the mechanisms that drove the decrease in FSR with inhibition of the autophagosome versus the proteasome, expression of the anabolic signaling molecule p70S6K was measured. A direct target of mTORC1, p70S6k has been shown to be tightly linked to the regulation of protein synthesis through its ability to upregulate ribosomal activity. When phosphorylated P70S6k is decreased, skeletal muscle protein synthesis declines. This report corroborates the findings in the literature that a decrease of phospho:Total p70S6k resulting from mTOR inhibition demonstrated lower FSR compared to control cells. Of particular interest for the present study is that the addition of NSC 185058 resulted in a profound reduction of the phospho:total ratio of p70S6k, and the effects were additive to the effects of Rapamycin or Torin1 (see Figures 4-6). While it is well-known that the activation of mTOR impacts autophagic processes, our data are the first to support the notion that the formation of the autophagosome directly impacts mTOR signal transduction. Unfortunately, the present study was not designed to address this potential cross-talk, but will be directly assessed in our future work. Future studies should aim to characterize how the NSC 185058 molecule could accomplish these interactions and offer a better

explanation as to how autophagy integrates within the anabolic framework to allow for maximal anabolic capacity.

eIF4EBP1 is another signaling molecule within the anabolic network that is a direct target of mTORC1 phosphorylation at two sites (T37 and T46). When eiF4EBP1 is phosphorylated, its inhibitory effect is alleviated and allows eIF4F to complex with eIF4G to allow cap-dependent translation to continue. It is important to note that the majority of these inhibitor combinations did not yield notable differences (see Figures 7-9). As eIF4EBP1 was primarily only impacted by Torin 1, which is an anticipated response, this means that the potential mechanism through which NSC 185058 is impacting anabolic signaling is not through mTORC1 directly. If NSC 185058 did directly alter mTORC1, then both of its downstream targets (p70S6K and eIF4EBP1) would have decrements in phospho:total ratios. As the NSC 185058 drug binds to the active sites of ATG4B, Cys74, Asp278, and His280, mTORC1 does not have similar amino acids at the same locations. Thus, NSC 185058 would be unable to bind and attach to mTORC1. As the target sequence of NSC 185058 does not have a matching sequence on mTORC1, this points to NSC 185058 targeting downstream of mTORC1 that would disallow the elevation of ribosomal machinery needed for protein synthesis.

With the decrement of fractional synthesis occurring due to the application of NSC 185058, the preference of amino acids for protein synthesis could be intracellular (and only generated through autophagic processes) is in direct contrast to the canonical belief that extracellular amino acids drive protein synthesis (15, 19, 20, 200). Those studies utilized radiolabeled amino acids, such as $D_{2,5}$ -Phe, [¹⁵N]Phe, or [1-¹³C]Leucine

as their tracers. By utilizing an extracellular tracer, it confounded the ability to distinguish any impact of amino acid origin on protein synthesis. Using those methodologies, presentation of the fixed label tracer to the cell was from an extracellular source (via the blood or media) which disallowed any transparency about how intracellular amino acids arising from proteolysis impacted synthesis rates. With the common understanding that the three ways to increase free amino acid levels within skeletal muscle by either degrading muscle protein, uptake from extracellular fluids, or conversion from other amino acids or intermediates, those tracer studies can only measure the uptake from the extracellular fluid. The methodology failed to address the contribution of either the degradation of muscle protein or conversion from other substrates/amino acids to the pool of available amino acids.

The utilization of deuterium oxide methodologies in the current study, wherein the label is attached via the cell's own transamination reaction, sidesteps the aforementioned experimental design issue and allows for a better investigation of the amino acid source/preference for protein synthesis. It is interesting to note that only the inhibition of autophagy, but not the proteasomal machinery, lead to a decrement in FSR. The predominant thought of autophagy is that it is only a source of amino acids during starvation or physiological stressful environment, yet the media that the cells were cultured in provided every nutritional and physiological requirement. Therefore, given our results, the prevalent thought that autophagy is only a source of amino acids during starvation or physiological stressful environment appears to be largely overstated. Our

59

results suggest that the role of catabolism, specifically autophagy, during a normal physiological state, is tightly linked with the anabolic potential of murine myotubes.

In summary, we provide evidence that protein synthesis of metabolically stable C2C12 myotubes relies on autophagic flux to a much greater extent than previously thought. Although the proteasomal system is thought to be the major degradation system in skeletal muscle, the application of the MG-262 had little effect on FSR or either downstream target of mTOR. Whether this is due to the oligopeptides generated from the proteasome having a pre-decided fate that is separate from the anabolic apparatus is not known; either inhibition of the proteasome is meaningless for FSR, or the 26s proteasome is not as big of a contributor to degradation for unchallenged skeletal muscle cells as previously thought. The autophagic-dependent mechanism that we've described appears to be mediated through an mTORC1 independent pathway that has yet to be elucidated. Our data strongly suggest that phosphorylation of p70S6K is directly impacted by application of NSC 185058 while phosphorylation of 4EBP1 remains unfettered. Rationale for that conclusion is based on the observation that if mTORC1 was directly impacted by NSC 185058, then both of the downstream targets would be impacted equally. To our knowledge, this is the first study to demonstrate that autophagy is permissive for full anabolic potential. While at present we cannot provide the underlying mechanism(s) that achieve this cross-talk between autophagy and the mTOR pathway, we can infer that the steps are related to disallowing recruitment of ribosomal machinery needed for protein synthesis. Taken together, these findings

60
underscore the importance of the autophagic flux for anabolic capacity and point towards a unique mechanism through which degradation and synthesis are tightly linked.

REFERENCES

1. **Abounit K, Scarabelli TM, and McCauley RB**. Autophagy in mammalian cells. *World J Biol Chem* 3: 1-6, 2012.

2. Akin D, Wang SK, Habibzadegah-Tari P, Law B, Ostrov D, Li M, Yin X-M, Kim J-S, Horenstein N, and Dunn Jr WA. A novel ATG4B antagonist inhibits autophagy and has a negative impact on osteosarcoma tumors. *Autophagy* 10: 2021-2035, 2014.

3. **Akopian TN, Kisselev AF, and Goldberg AL**. Processive degradation of proteins and other catalytic properties of the proteasome from Thermoplasma acidophilum. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272: 1791-1798, 1997.

4. **Al-Khalili L, de Castro Barbosa T, Östling J, Massart J, Cuesta PG, Osler ME, Katayama M, Nyström A-C, Oscarsson J, and Zierath JR**. Proteasome inhibition in skeletal muscle cells unmasks metabolic derangements in type 2 diabetes. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology* 307: C774-C787, 2014.

5. Altman JK, Szilard A, Goussetis DJ, Sassano A, Colamonici M, Gounaris E, Frankfurt O, Giles FJ, Eklund EA, and Beauchamp EM. Autophagy is a survival mechanism of acute myelogenous leukemia precursors during dual mTORC2/mTORC1 targeting. *Clinical Cancer Research* 20: 2400-2409, 2014.

6. **Argilés JM, Busquets S, Stemmler B, and López-Soriano FJ**. Cancer cachexia: understanding the molecular basis. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 14: 754-762, 2014.

7. **Arias E**. Lysosomal mTORC2/PHLPP1/Akt axis: a new point of control of chaperone-mediated autophagy. *Oncotarget* 6: 35147, 2015.

8. Arias E, Koga H, Diaz A, Mocholi E, Patel B, and Cuervo AM. Lysosomal mTORC2/PHLPP1/Akt Regulate Chaperone-Mediated Autophagy. *Molecular cell* 59: 270-284, 2015.

9. Aspernig H, Heimbucher T, Qi W, Gangurde D, Curic S, Yan Y, von Gromoff ED, Baumeister R, and Thien A. Mitochondrial perturbations couple mTORC2 to autophagy in C. elegans. *Cell reports* 29: 1399-1409. e1395, 2019.

10. **Attaix D, and Taillandier D**. The Critical Role of the Ubiquitin-Proteasome Pathway in Muscle Wasting in Comparison to Lysosomal and Ca2+-Dependent Systems. In: *Advances in Molecular and Cell Biology*, edited by Bittar EE, and Rivett AJElsevier, 1998, p. 235-266.

11. Bacurau AV, Jannig PR, de Moraes WM, Cunha TF, Medeiros A, Barberi L, Coelho MA, Bacurau RF, Ugrinowitsch C, and Musaro A. Akt/mTOR pathway contributes to skeletal muscle anti-atrophic effect of aerobic exercise training in heart failure mice. *International journal of cardiology* 214: 137-147, 2016.

12. **Baracos V, and Kazemi-Bajestani SMR**. Clinical outcomes related to muscle mass in humans with cancer and catabolic illnesses. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology* 45: 2302-2308, 2013.

13. **Baumeister W, Dahlmann B, Hegerl R, Kopp F, Kuehn L, and Pfeifer G**. Electron microscopy and image analysis of the multicatalytic proteinase. *FEBS letters* 241: 239-245, 1988.

14. **Bechet D, Tassa A, Taillandier D, Combaret L, and Attaix D**. Lysosomal proteolysis in skeletal muscle. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology* 37: 2098-2114, 2005.

15. **Bennet W, Connacher A, Scrimgeour C, and Rennie M**. The effect of amino acid infusion on leg protein turnover assessed by L-[15N] phenylalanine and L-[1-13C] leucine exchange. *European journal of clinical investigation* 20: 41-50, 1990.

16. **Berg TO, Fengsrud M, Strømhaug PE, Berg T, and Seglen PO**. Isolation and characterization of rat liver amphisomes. Evidence for fusion of autophagosomes with both early and late endosomes. *J Biol Chem* 273: 21883-21892, 1998.

17. **Birmingham CL, Smith AC, Bakowski MA, Yoshimori T, and Brumell JH**. Autophagy controls Salmonella infection in response to damage to the Salmonella-containing vacuole. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281: 11374-11383, 2006.

18. Bodine SC, Stitt TN, Gonzalez M, Kline WO, Stover GL, Bauerlein R, Zlotchenko E, Scrimgeour A, Lawrence JC, and Glass DJ. Akt/mTOR pathway is a crucial regulator of skeletal muscle hypertrophy and can prevent muscle atrophy in vivo. *Nature cell biology* 3: 1014-1019, 2001.

19. **Bohé J, Low A, Wolfe RR, and Rennie MJ**. Human muscle protein synthesis is modulated by extracellular, not intramuscular amino acid availability: a dose-response study. *The Journal of physiology* 552: 315-324, 2003.

20. **Bohé J, Low A, Wolfe RR, and Rennie MJ**. Human muscle protein synthesis is modulated by extracellular, not intramuscular amino acid availability: a dose-response study. *The Journal of physiology* 552: 315-324, 2003.

21. **Bollinger LM, Powell JJ, Houmard JA, Witczak CA, and Brault JJ**. Skeletal muscle myotubes in severe obesity exhibit altered ubiquitin-proteasome and autophagic/lysosomal proteolytic flux. *Obesity* 23: 1185-1193, 2015.

22. **Botbol V, and Scornik OA**. Peptide intermediates in the degradation of cellular proteins. Bestatin permits their accumulation in mouse liver in vivo. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 258: 1942-1949, 1983.

23. **Botbol V, and Scornik OA**. Role of bestatin-sensitive exopeptidases in the intracellular degradation of hepatic proteins. *J Biol Chem* 264: 13504-13509, 1989.

24. **Brown EJ, Albers MW, Shin TB, Keith CT, Lane WS, and Schreiber SL**. A mammalian protein targeted by G1-arresting rapamycin–receptor complex. *Nature* 369: 756-758, 1994.

25. **Bugno M, Daniel M, Chepelev NL, and Willmore WG**. Changing gears in Nrf1 research, from mechanisms of regulation to its role in disease and prevention. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Gene Regulatory Mechanisms* 1849: 1260-1276, 2015.

26. Bye A, Sjøblom B, Wentzel-Larsen T, Grønberg BH, Baracos VE, Hjermstad MJ, Aass N, Bremnes RM, Fløtten Ø, and Jordhøy M. Muscle mass and association to quality of life in non-small cell lung cancer patients. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle* 8: 759-767, 2017.

27. **CDC**. National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2020 Estimates of Diabetes and Its Burden in the United States. 1-32, 2020.

28. **Chan EY, Longatti A, McKnight NC, and Tooze SA**. Kinase-inactivated ULK proteins inhibit autophagy via their conserved C-terminal domains using an Atg13-independent mechanism. *Molecular and cellular biology* 29: 157-171, 2009.

29. Choi RH, Jeong H-W, McConahay A, Hirshman MF, Goodyear LJ, and Koh H-J. TRB3 Regulates Denervation-induced Muscle Atrophy and Insulin Resistance in Mouse Skeletal Muscle. *The FASEB Journal* 30: 1009.1008, 2016.

30. Choi RH, McConahay A, Hardee JP, Carson JA, Hirshman MF, Goodyear LJ, and Koh H-J. TRB3 Regulates Protein Turnover in Mouse Skeletal Muscle. *The FASEB Journal* 31: 1021.1025-1021.1025, 2017.

31. Choi RH, McConahay A, Jeong H-W, McClellan JL, Hardee JP, Carson JA, Hirshman MF, Goodyear LJ, and Koh H-J. Tribbles 3 regulates protein turnover in mouse skeletal muscle. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 493: 1236-1242, 2017.

32. **Ciechanover A**. Intracellular protein degradation: from a vague idea thru the lysosome and the ubiquitin–proteasome system and onto human diseases and drug targeting. *Cell Death & Differentiation* 12: 1178-1190, 2005.

33. **Ciechanover A**. Proteolysis: from the lysosome to ubiquitin and the proteasome. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* 6: 79-87, 2005.

34. **Ciechanover A**. The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway. *Cell* 79: 13-21, 1994.

35. **Ciechanover A, and Schwartz AL**. The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway: the complexity and myriad functions of proteins death. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 95: 2727-2730, 1998.

36. Clarke BA, Drujan D, Willis MS, Murphy LO, Corpina RA, Burova E, Rakhilin SV, Stitt TN, Patterson C, Latres E, and Glass DJ. The E3 Ligase MuRF1 Degrades Myosin Heavy Chain Protein in Dexamethasone-Treated Skeletal Muscle. *Cell Metabolism* 6: 376-385, 2007.

37. Cohen S, Brault JJ, Gygi SP, Glass DJ, Valenzuela DM, Gartner C, Latres E, and Goldberg AL. During muscle atrophy, thick, but not thin, filament components are degraded by MuRF1-dependent ubiquitylation. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 185: 1083-1095, 2009.

38. **Cohen S, Zhai B, Gygi SP, and Goldberg AL**. Ubiquitylation by Trim32 causes coupled loss of desmin, Z-bands, and thin filaments in muscle atrophy. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 198: 575-589, 2012.

39. Collins GA, and Goldberg AL. The Logic of the 26S Proteasome. *Cell* 169: 792-806, 2017.

40. **Coux O, Tanaka K, and Goldberg AL**. Structure and functions of the 20S and 26S proteasomes. *Annual review of biochemistry* 65: 801-847, 1996.

41. **Cuervo AM**. Autophagy: many paths to the same end. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry* 263: 55-72, 2004.

42. **Deaver JW, López SM, Ryan PJ, Nghiem PP, Riechman SE, and Fluckey JD**. REGULATION OF CELLULAR ANABOLISM BY MTOR: OR HOW I LEARNED TO STOP WORRYING AND LOVE TRANSLATION. *Sports Medicine and Health Science* 2020.

43. Deretic V. Autophagy in infection. *Current opinion in cell biology* 22: 252-262, 2010.

44. **Deretic V, Saitoh T, and Akira S**. Autophagy in infection, inflammation and immunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 13: 722-737, 2013.

45. **DeYoung MP, Horak P, Sofer A, Sgroi D, and Ellisen LW**. Hypoxia regulates TSC1/2-mTOR signaling and tumor suppression through REDD1-mediated 14-3-3 shuttling. *Genes & development* 22: 239-251, 2008.

46. **Dikic I, and Elazar Z**. Mechanism and medical implications of mammalian autophagy. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* 19: 2018.

47. **DiMartini A, Cruz Jr RJ, Dew MA, Myaskovsky L, Goodpaster B, Fox K, Kim KH, and Fontes P**. Muscle mass predicts outcomes following liver transplantation. *Liver Transplantation* 19: 1172-1180, 2013.

48. **Dowling RJ, Topisirovic I, Fonseca BD, and Sonenberg N**. Dissecting the role of mTOR: lessons from mTOR inhibitors. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Proteins and Proteomics* 1804: 433-439, 2010.

49. **Du J, Wang X, Miereles C, Bailey JL, Debigare R, Zheng B, Price SR, and Mitch WE**. Activation of caspase-3 is an initial step triggering accelerated muscle proteolysis in catabolic conditions. *J Clin Invest* 113: 115-123, 2004.

50. **Dufner DA, Bederman IR, Brunengraber DZ, Rachdaoui N, Ismail-Beigi F, Siegfried BA, Kimball SR, and Previs SF**. Using 2H2O to study the influence of feeding on protein synthesis: effect of isotope equilibration in vivo vs. in cell culture. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism* 288: E1277-E1283, 2005.

51. **Efeyan A, Zoncu R, and Sabatini DM**. Amino acids and mTORC1: from lysosomes to disease. *Trends in molecular medicine* 18: 524-533, 2012.

52. El Bacha T, Luz M, and Da Poian A. Dynamic adaptation of nutrient utilization in humans. *Nat Educ* 3: 2010.

53. Emerling BM, Weinberg F, Snyder C, Burgess Z, Mutlu GM, Viollet B, Budinger GS, and Chandel NS. Hypoxic activation of AMPK is dependent on mitochondrial ROS but independent of an increase in AMP/ATP ratio. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 46: 1386-1391, 2009.

54. **Eskelinen E-L, and Saftig P**. Autophagy: A lysosomal degradation pathway with a central role in health and disease. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research* 1793: 664-673, 2009.

55. **Fanzani A, Conraads VM, Penna F, and Martinet W**. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of skeletal muscle atrophy: an update. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle* 3: 163-179, 2012.

56. Feldman ME, Apsel B, Uotila A, Loewith R, Knight ZA, Ruggero D, and Shokat KM. Active-site inhibitors of mTOR target rapamycin-resistant outputs of mTORC1 and mTORC2. *PLoS biology* 7: e1000038, 2009.

57. **Ferrando AA, Lane HW, Stuart CA, Davis-Street J, and Wolfe RR**. Prolonged bed rest decreases skeletal muscle and whole body protein synthesis. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism* 270: E627-E633, 1996.

58. **Filomeni G, De Zio D, and Cecconi F**. Oxidative stress and autophagy: the clash between damage and metabolic needs. *Cell Death & Differentiation* 22: 377-388, 2015.

59. Fluckey JD, Lambert BS, Greene NP, Shimkus KL, Cardin JM, Riechman SE, and Crouse SF. Reply to letter to the editor: to D2O or not to D2O? What are the reasons we D2O it at all? *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism* 308: E928-E931, 2015.

60. **Frase H, Hudak J, and Lee I**. Identification of the proteasome inhibitor MG262 as a potent ATP-dependent inhibitor of the Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium Lon protease. *Biochemistry* 45: 8264-8274, 2006.

61. Frosk P, Weiler T, Nylen E, Sudha T, Greenberg CR, Morgan K, Fujiwara TM, and Wrogemann K. Limb-Girdle Muscular Dystrophy Type 2H Associated with Mutation in TRIM32, a Putative E3-Ubiquitin–Ligase Gene. *The American Journal of Human Genetics* 70: 663-672, 2002.

62. **Galban VD, Evangelista EA, Migliorini RH, and do Carmo Kettelhut I**. Role of ubiquitin-proteasome-dependent proteolytic process in degradation of muscle protein from diabetic rabbits. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry* 225: 35-41, 2001.

63. Ganley IG, Lam DH, Wang J, Ding X, Chen S, and Jiang X. ULK1· ATG13· FIP200 complex mediates mTOR signaling and is essential for autophagy. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284: 12297-12305, 2009.

64. **Gao D, Inuzuka H, Tan MK, Fukushima H, Locasale JW, and Liu P**. mTOR drives its own activation via SCF(betaTrCP)-dependent degradation of the mTOR inhibitor DEPTOR. *Molecular cell* 44: 2011.

65. **Garlick P, Wernerman J, McNurlan M, and Essen P**. What is the normal response of protein turnover to nutrient supply? *Clinical Nutrition* 9: 294-296, 1990.

66. **Gasier HG, Fluckey JD, and Previs SF**. The application of 2 H 2 O to measure skeletal muscle protein synthesis. *Nutrition & metabolism* 7: 31, 2010.

67. **Gasier HG, Fluckey JD, and Previs SF**. The application of 2 H 2 O to measure skeletal muscle protein synthesis. *Nutrition & metabolism* 7: 1-8, 2010.

68. **Gasier HG, Fluckey JD, Previs SF, Wiggs MP, and Riechman SE**. Acute resistance exercise augments integrative myofibrillar protein synthesis. *Metabolism* 61: 153-156, 2012.

69. **Gasier HG, Riechman SE, Wiggs MP, Previs SF, and Fluckey JD**. A comparison of 2H2O and phenylalanine flooding dose to investigate muscle protein synthesis with acute exercise in rats. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism* 297: E252-E259, 2009.

70. **Glick D, Barth S, and Macleod KF**. Autophagy: cellular and molecular mechanisms. *The Journal of pathology* 221: 3-12, 2010.

71. **Glickman MH, and Ciechanover A**. The Ubiquitin-Proteasome Proteolytic Pathway: Destruction for the Sake of Construction. *Physiological Reviews* 82: 373-428, 2002.

72. **Goldberg A, and Dice J**. Intracellular protein degradation in mammalian and bacterial cells. *Annual review of biochemistry* 43: 835-869, 1974.

73. **Goldberg AL**. Probing the proteasome pathway. *Nature biotechnology* 18: 494-496, 2000.

74. **Goldberg AL**. Protein turnover in skeletal muscle II. Effects of denervation and cortisone on protein catabolism in skeletal muscle. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 244: 3223-3229, 1969.

75. **Goldberg AL, and Odessey R**. Oxidation of amino acids by diaphragms from fed and fasted rats. *American Journal of Physiology-Legacy Content* 223: 1384-1391, 1972.

76. **Goldberg AL, and St. John A**. Intracellular protein degradation in mammalian and bacterial cells: Part 2. *Annual review of biochemistry* 45: 747-804, 1976.

77. **Guertin DA, and Sabatini DM**. The pharmacology of mTOR inhibition. *Science signaling* 2: pe24-pe24, 2009.

78. **Guroff G**. A neutral, calcium-activated proteinase from the soluble fraction of rat brain. *J Biol Chem* 239: 149-155, 1964.

79. **Gurusamy N, Lekli I, Mukherjee S, Ray D, Ahsan MK, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu LM, and Das DK**. Cardioprotection by resveratrol: a novel mechanism via autophagy involving the mTORC2 pathway. *Cardiovascular Research* 86: 103-112, 2009.

80. **Gyawali B, Shimokata T, Honda K, Kondoh C, Hayashi N, Yoshino Y, Sassa N, Nakano Y, Gotoh M, and Ando Y**. Muscle wasting associated with the long-term use of mTOR inhibitors. *Molecular and clinical oncology* 5: 641-646, 2016.

81. **Hammarqvist F, Wernerman J, Von Der Decken A, and Vinnars E**. The effects of branched chain amino-acids upon postoperative muscle protein synthesis and nitrogen balance. *Clinical Nutrition* 7: 171-175, 1988.

82. Harada K, Suzuki S, Ishii H, Aoki T, Hirayama K, Shibata Y, Negishi Y, Sumi T, Kawashima K, and Kunimura A. Impact of skeletal muscle mass on long-term adverse cardiovascular outcomes in patients with chronic kidney disease. *The American journal of cardiology* 119: 1275-1280, 2017.

83. **Hargens AR, and Vico L**. Long-duration bed rest as an analog to microgravity. *Journal of applied physiology* 120: 891-903, 2016.

84. **He C, and Klionsky DJ**. Regulation mechanisms and signaling pathways of autophagy. *Annual review of genetics* 43: 67-93, 2009.

85. **Hendil KB**. The 19 S multicatalytic" prosome" proteinase is a constitutive enzyme in HeLa cells. *Biochemistry international* 17: 471-477, 1988.

86. Hershko A, and Ciechanover A. THE UBIQUITIN SYSTEM FOR PROTEIN DEGRADATION. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 61: 761-807, 1992.

87. **Hochstrasser M**. Intracellular protein degradation. Jones and Bartlett Learning, 2007, p. 1-22.

88. **Hochstrasser M.** UBIQUITIN-DEPENDENT PROTEIN DEGRADATION. *Annual Review of Genetics* 30: 405-439, 1996.

89. **Hope AD, De Silva R, Fischer DF, Hol EM, Van Leeuwen FW, and Lees AJ**. Alzheimer's associated variant ubiquitin causes inhibition of the 26S proteasome and chaperone expression. *Journal of neurochemistry* 86: 394-404, 2003.

90. Hosokawa N, Hara T, Kaizuka T, Kishi C, Takamura A, Miura Y, Iemura S-i, Natsume T, Takehana K, and Yamada N. Nutrient-dependent mTORC1 association with the ULK1–Atg13–FIP200 complex required for autophagy. *Molecular biology of the cell* 20: 1981-1991, 2009.

91. **Huang J, Yuan W-j, Wang J-l, Gu L-j, Yin J, Dong T, Bao J-f, and Tang Zh**. [Autophagy-lysosome pathway in skeletal muscle of diabetic nephropathy rats and the effect of low-protein diet plus α-keto acids on it]. *Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi* 93: 3551-3555, 2013.

92. **Huo H-z, Zhou Z-y, Wang B, Qin J, Liu W-y, and Gu Y**. Dramatic suppression of colorectal cancer cell growth by the dual mTORC1 and mTORC2 inhibitor AZD-2014. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 443: 406-412, 2014.

93. Ichimura Y, Kumanomidou T, Sou Y-s, Mizushima T, Ezaki J, Ueno T, Kominami E, Yamane T, Tanaka K, and Komatsu M. Structural basis for sorting mechanism of p62 in selective autophagy. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283: 22847-22857, 2008.

94. **Jamart C**. *Regulation of Muscle Protein Degradation: In Physiological and Pathological Catabolic States*. LAP LAMBERT Academic Publishing, 2013.

95. **Jenner P**. Oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society* 53: S26-S38, 2003.

96. **Jewell J, and Russell R**. Guan KL. *Amino acid signalling upstream of mTOR Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 14: 133-139, 2013.

97. Jung CH, Jun CB, Ro S-H, Kim Y-M, Otto NM, Cao J, Kundu M, and Kim D-H. ULK-Atg13-FIP200 complexes mediate mTOR signaling to the autophagy machinery. *Molecular biology of the cell* 20: 1992-2003, 2009.

98. Jung CH, Ro S-H, Cao J, Otto NM, and Kim D-H. mTOR regulation of autophagy. *FEBS letters* 584: 1287-1295, 2010.

99. Kalyani RR, Corriere M, and Ferrucci L. Age-related and disease-related muscle loss: the effect of diabetes, obesity, and other diseases. *The lancet Diabetes & endocrinology* 2: 819-829, 2014.

100. Katiyar S, Liu E, Knutzen CA, Lang ES, Lombardo CR, Sankar S, Toth JI, Petroski MD, Ronai Ze, and Chiang GG. REDD1, an inhibitor of mTOR signalling, is regulated by the CUL4A–DDB1 ubiquitin ligase. *EMBO reports* 10: 866-872, 2009.

101. **Kiffin R, Bandyopadhyay U, and Cuervo AM**. Oxidative stress and autophagy. *Antioxidants & redox signaling* 8: 152-162, 2006.

102. **Kim HM, Yu Y, and Cheng Y**. Structure characterization of the 26S proteasome. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Gene Regulatory Mechanisms* 1809: 67-79, 2011.

103. **Kim HT, Kim KP, Uchiki T, Gygi SP, and Goldberg AL**. S5a promotes protein degradation by blocking synthesis of nondegradable forked ubiquitin chains. *The EMBO journal* 28: 1867-1877, 2009.

104. **Kim J, Kundu M, Viollet B, and Guan K-L**. AMPK and mTOR regulate autophagy through direct phosphorylation of Ulk1. *Nature cell biology* 13: 132-141, 2011.

105. Kim TN, Park MS, Yang SJ, Yoo HJ, Kang HJ, Song W, Seo JA, Kim SG, Kim NH, and Baik SH. Prevalence and determinant factors of sarcopenia in patients with type 2 diabetes: the Korean Sarcopenic Obesity Study (KSOS). *Diabetes care* 33: 1497-1499, 2010.

106. Kirkin V, McEwan DG, Novak I, and Dikic I. A role for ubiquitin in selective autophagy. *Molecular cell* 34: 259-269, 2009.

107. **Kirschner R, and Goldberg A**. A high molecular weight metalloendoprotease from the cytosol of mammalian cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 258: 967-976, 1983.

108. **Kisselev AF, Akopian TN, Castillo V, and Goldberg AL**. Proteasome active sites allosterically regulate each other, suggesting a cyclical bite-chew mechanism for protein breakdown. *Molecular cell* 4: 395-402, 1999.

109. **Kisselev AF, Akopian TN, and Goldberg AL**. Range of sizes of peptide products generated during degradation of different proteins by archaeal proteasomes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273: 1982-1989, 1998.

110. **Kisselev AF, Akopian TN, Woo KM, and Goldberg AL**. The Sizes of Peptides Generated from Protein by Mammalian 26 and 20 S Proteasomes: IMPLICATIONS FOR UNDERSTANDING THE DEGRADATIVE MECHANISM AND ANTIGEN PRESENTATION. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274: 3363-3371, 1999.

111. **Kisselev AF, and Goldberg AL**. Proteasome inhibitors: from research tools to drug candidates. *Chemistry & biology* 8: 739-758, 2001.

112. **Kleinschmidt J, Hügle B, Grund C, and Franke WW**. The 22 S cylinder particles of Xenopus laevis. I. Biochemical and electron microscopic characterization. *European journal of cell biology* 32: 143-156, 1983.

113. **Klionsky DJ, and Emr SD**. Autophagy as a Regulated Pathway of Cellular Degradation. *Science* 290: 1717-1721, 2000.

114. Komatsu M, Waguri S, Koike M, Sou Y-s, Ueno T, Hara T, Mizushima N, Iwata J-i, Ezaki J, and Murata S. Homeostatic levels of p62 control cytoplasmic inclusion body formation in autophagy-deficient mice. *Cell* 131: 1149-1163, 2007.

115. **Kopp F, Steiner R, Dahlmann B, Kuehn L, and Reinauer H**. Size and shape of the multicatalytic proteinase from rat skeletal muscle. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (*BBA*)-*Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology* 872: 253-260, 1986.

116. Kovacina KS, Park GY, Bae SS, Guzzetta AW, Schaefer E, Birnbaum MJ, and Roth RA. Identification of a proline-rich Akt substrate as a 14-3-3 binding partner. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278: 10189-10194, 2003.

117. Kraut DA, Israeli E, Schrader EK, Patil A, Nakai K, Nanavati D, Inobe T, and Matouschek A. Sequence-and species-dependence of proteasomal processivity. *ACS chemical biology* 7: 1444-1453, 2012.

118. **Kruse R, Vind BF, Petersson SJ, Kristensen JM, and Højlund K**. Markers of autophagy are adapted to hyperglycaemia in skeletal muscle in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 58: 2087-2095, 2015.

119. **Kudryashova E, Kudryashov D, Kramerova I, and Spencer MJ**. Trim32 is a ubiquitin ligase mutated in limb girdle muscular dystrophy type 2H that binds to skeletal muscle myosin and ubiquitinates actin. *Journal of molecular biology* 354: 413-424, 2005.

120. **Kudryashova E, Struyk A, Mokhonova E, Cannon SC, and Spencer MJ**. The common missense mutation D489N in TRIM32 causing limb girdle muscular dystrophy 2H leads to loss of the mutated protein in knock-in mice resulting in a Trim32-null phenotype. *Human Molecular Genetics* 20: 3925-3932, 2011.

121. Kurepa J, Toh-e A, and Smalle JA. 26S proteasome regulatory particle mutants have increased oxidative stress tolerance. *The Plant Journal* 53: 102-114, 2008.

122. Lam YA, Pickart CM, Alban A, Landon M, Jamieson C, Ramage R, Mayer RJ, and Layfield R. Inhibition of the ubiquitin-proteasome system in Alzheimer's disease. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 97: 9902-9906, 2000.

123. Landi F, Onder G, and Bernabei R. Sarcopenia and diabetes: two sides of the same coin. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 14: 540-541, 2013.

124. **Laplante M, and Sabatini DM**. mTOR signaling. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* 4: a011593, 2012.

125. **LeBlanc A, Gogia P, Schneider V, Krebs J, Schonfeld E, and Evans H**. Calf muscle area and strength changes after five weeks of horizontal bed rest. *The American journal of sports medicine* 16: 624-629, 1988.

126. **LeBlanc AD, Schneider VS, Evans HJ, Pientok C, Rowe R, and Spector E**. Regional changes in muscle mass following 17 weeks of bed rest. *Journal of applied physiology* 73: 2172-2178, 1992.

127. Lee J, Giordano S, and Zhang J. Autophagy, mitochondria and oxidative stress: cross-talk and redox signalling. *Biochemical Journal* 441: 523-540, 2012.

128. Léger B, Cartoni R, Praz M, Lamon S, Dériaz O, Crettenand A, Gobelet C, Rohmer P, Konzelmann M, and Luthi F. Akt signalling through GSK- 3β , mTOR and Foxo1 is involved in human skeletal muscle hypertrophy and atrophy. *The Journal of physiology* 576: 923-933, 2006.

129. Lelegren M, Liu Y, Ross C, Tardif S, and Salmon AB. Pharmaceutical inhibition of mTOR in the common marmoset: effect of rapamycin on regulators of proteostasis in a non-human primate. *Pathobiology of Aging & Age-related Diseases* 6: 31793, 2016.

130. Lenk S, Bhat D, Blakeney W, and Dunn Jr W. Effects of streptozotocininduced diabetes on rough endoplasmic reticulum and lysosomes of rat liver. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism* 263: E856-E862, 1992.

131. Levine B, and Klionsky DJ. Development by Self-Digestion: Molecular Mechanisms and Biological Functions of Autophagy. *Developmental Cell* 6: 463-477, 2004.

132. Li L, Tong M, Fu Y, Chen F, Zhang S, Chen H, Ma X, Li D, Liu X, and Zhong Q. Lipids and membrane-associated proteins in autophagy. *Protein & Cell* 12: 520-544, 2021.

133. Liao H, Huang Y, Guo B, Liang B, Liu X, Ou H, Jiang C, Li X, and Yang D. Dramatic antitumor effects of the dual mTORC1 and mTORC2 inhibitor AZD2014 in hepatocellular carcinoma. *American journal of cancer research* 5: 125, 2015.

134. Liu Z, Miers WR, Wei L, and Barrett EJ. The Ubiquitin-Proteasome Proteolytic Pathway in Heart vs Skeletal Muscle: Effects of Acute Diabetes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 276: 1255-1260, 2000. 135. Lokireddy S, Kukushkin NV, and Goldberg AL. cAMP-induced phosphorylation of 26S proteasomes on Rpn6/PSMD11 enhances their activity and the degradation of misfolded proteins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112: E7176-E7185, 2015.

136. Lu Y, Lee B-h, King RW, Finley D, and Kirschner MW. Substrate degradation by the proteasome: a single-molecule kinetic analysis. *Science* 348: 1250834, 2015.

137. **Lucocq J, and Walker D**. Evidence for fusion between multilamellar endosomes and autophagosomes in HeLa cells. *European journal of cell biology* 72: 307-313, 1997.

138. Mammucari C, Milan G, Romanello V, Masiero E, Rudolf R, Del Piccolo P, Burden SJ, Di Lisi R, Sandri C, and Zhao J. FoxO3 controls autophagy in skeletal muscle in vivo. *Cell metabolism* 6: 458-471, 2007.

139. **Mammucari C, Schiaffino S, and Sandri M**. Downstream of Akt: FoxO3 and mTOR in the regulation of autophagy in skeletal muscle. *Autophagy* 4: 524-526, 2008.

140. **Manning BD, Tee AR, Logsdon MN, Blenis J, and Cantley LC**. Identification of the tuberous sclerosis complex-2 tumor suppressor gene product tuberin as a target of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/akt pathway. *Molecular cell* 10: 151-162, 2002.

141. **Mao J-H, Kim I-J, Wu D, Climent J, Kang HC, DelRosario R, and Balmain A**. FBXW7 targets mTOR for degradation and cooperates with PTEN in tumor suppression. *Science* 321: 1499-1502, 2008.

142. Martin L, Birdsell L, MacDonald N, Reiman T, Clandinin MT, McCargar LJ, Murphy R, Ghosh S, Sawyer MB, and Baracos VE. Cancer cachexia in the age of obesity: skeletal muscle depletion is a powerful prognostic factor, independent of body mass index. *Journal of clinical oncology* 31: 1539-1547, 2013.

143. **Martina JA, Chen Y, Gucek M, and Puertollano R**. MTORC1 functions as a transcriptional regulator of autophagy by preventing nuclear transport of TFEB. *Autophagy* 8: 903-914, 2012.

144. Masiero E, Agatea L, Mammucari C, Blaauw B, Loro E, Komatsu M, Metzger D, Reggiani C, Schiaffino S, and Sandri M. Autophagy is required to maintain muscle mass. *Cell metabolism* 10: 507-515, 2009.

145. Masini M, Bugliani M, Lupi R, Del Guerra S, Boggi U, Filipponi F, Marselli L, Masiello P, and Marchetti P. Autophagy in human type 2 diabetes pancreatic beta cells. *Diabetologia* 52: 1083-1086, 2009.

146. **Matsuura A, Tsukada M, Wada Y, and Ohsumi Y**. Apg1p, a novel protein kinase required for the autophagic process in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Gene* 192: 245-250, 1997.

147. **McElhinny AS, Kakinuma K, Sorimachi H, Labeit S, and Gregorio CC**. Muscle-specific RING finger-1 interacts with titin to regulate sarcomeric M-line and thick filament structure and may have nuclear functions via its interaction with glucocorticoid modulatory element binding protein-1. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 157: 125-136, 2002.

148. **McNaught KSP, and Jenner P**. Proteasomal function is impaired in substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease. *Neuroscience letters* 297: 191-194, 2001.

149. **Meijer AJ, and Dubbelhuis PF**. Amino acid signalling and the integration of metabolism. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 313: 397-403, 2004.

150. **Mellman I**. ENDOCYTOSIS AND MOLECULAR SORTING. *Annual Review* of Cell and Developmental Biology 12: 575-625, 1996.

151. Merforth S, Osmers A, and Dahlmann B. Alterations of proteasome activities in skeletal muscle tissue of diabetic rats. *Molecular biology reports* 26: 83-87, 1999.

152. **Metcalf D, and Isaacs AM**. The role of ESCRT proteins in fusion events involving lysosomes, endosomes and autophagosomes. Portland Press Ltd., 2010.

153. **Meyer H-J, and Rape M**. Enhanced protein degradation by branched ubiquitin chains. *Cell* 157: 910-921, 2014.

154. **Mitch WE, Bailey JL, Wang X, Jurkovitz C, Newby D, and Price SR**. Evaluation of signals activating ubiquitin-proteasome proteolysis in a model of muscle wasting. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology* 276: C1132-C1138, 1999.

155. **Mizushima N**. The pleiotropic role of autophagy: from protein metabolism to bactericide. *Cell Death & Differentiation* 12: 1535-1541, 2005.

156. **Morley JE, Malmstrom TK, Rodriguez-Mañas L, and Sinclair AJ**. Frailty, sarcopenia and diabetes. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 15: 853-859, 2014.

157. **Moscat J, and Diaz-Meco MT**. Feedback on fat: p62-mTORC1-autophagy connections. *Cell* 147: 724-727, 2011.

158. **Moscat J, Diaz-Meco MT, and Wooten MW**. Signal integration and diversification through the p62 scaffold protein. *Trends in biochemical sciences* 32: 95-100, 2007.

159. **Myeku N, and Duff KE**. Targeting the 26S proteasome to protect against proteotoxic diseases. *Trends in molecular medicine* 24: 18-29, 2018.

160. Nerurkar MA, Satav JG, and Katyare SS. Insulin-dependent changes in lysosomal cathepsin D activity in rat liver, kidney, brain and heart. *Diabetologia* 31: 119-122, 1988.

161. Nicklin P, Bergman P, Zhang B, Triantafellow E, Wang H, Nyfeler B, Yang H, Hild M, Kung C, and Wilson C. Bidirectional transport of amino acids regulates mTOR and autophagy. *Cell* 136: 521-534, 2009.

162. Nilsson MI, Dobson JP, Greene NP, Wiggs MP, Shimkus KL, Wudeck EV, Davis AR, Laureano ML, and Fluckey JD. Abnormal protein turnover and anabolic resistance to exercise in sarcopenic obesity. *The FASEB Journal* 27: 3905-3916, 2013.

163. Nilsson MI, Greene NP, Dobson JP, Wiggs MP, Gasier HG, Macias BR, Shimkus KL, and Fluckey JD. Insulin resistance syndrome blunts the mitochondrial anabolic response following resistance exercise. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism* 299: E466-E474, 2010.

164. Nishizawa-Yokoi A, Tainaka H, Yoshida E, Tamoi M, Yabuta Y, and Shigeoka S. The 26S proteasome function and Hsp90 activity involved in the regulation of HsfA2 expression in response to oxidative stress. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 51: 486-496, 2010.

165. **Odessey R, and Goldberg AL**. Oxidation of leucine by rat skeletal muscle. *American Journal of Physiology-Legacy Content* 223: 1376-1383, 1972.

166. **Ogasawara R, Fujita S, Hornberger TA, Kitaoka Y, Makanae Y, Nakazato K, and Naokata I**. The role of mTOR signalling in the regulation of skeletal muscle mass in a rodent model of resistance exercise. *Scientific Reports* 6: 1-12, 2016.

167. **Oshima T, and Tamiya N**. Mechanism of transaminase action. *Biochemical Journal* 78: 116-119, 1961.

168. **Osmulski PA, and Gaczynska M**. Rapamycin allosterically inhibits the proteasome. *Molecular pharmacology* 84: 104-113, 2013.

169. Öst A, Svensson K, Ruishalme I, Brännmark C, Franck N, Krook H, Sandström P, Kjolhede P, and Strålfors P. Attenuated mTOR signaling and enhanced autophagy in adipocytes from obese patients with type 2 diabetes. *Molecular medicine* 16: 235-246, 2010.

170. **Otter T, King SM, and Witman GB**. A two-step procedure for efficient electrotransfer of both high-molecular-weight (> 400,000) and low-molecular-weight (< 20,000) proteins. *Analytical biochemistry* 162: 370-377, 1987.

171. **Pajares M, Cuadrado A, Engedal N, Jirsova Z, and Cahova M**. The Role of Free Radicals in Autophagy Regulation: Implications for Ageing. *Oxid Med Cell Longev* 2018: 2450748-2450748, 2018.

172. **Pankiv S, Clausen TH, Lamark T, Brech A, Bruun JA, Outzen H, Øvervatn A, Bjørkøy G, and Johansen T**. p62/SQSTM1 binds directly to Atg8/LC3 to facilitate degradation of ubiquitinated protein aggregates by autophagy. *J Biol Chem* 282: 24131-24145, 2007.

173. Park SW, Goodpaster BH, Lee JS, Kuller LH, Boudreau R, De Rekeneire N, Harris TB, Kritchevsky S, Tylavsky FA, and Nevitt M. Excessive loss of skeletal muscle mass in older adults with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes care* 32: 1993-1997, 2009.

174. **Park SW, Goodpaster BH, Strotmeyer ES, Kuller LH, Broudeau R, Kammerer C, De Rekeneire N, Harris TB, Schwartz AV, and Tylavsky FA**. Accelerated loss of skeletal muscle strength in older adults with type 2 diabetes: the health, aging, and body composition study. *Diabetes care* 30: 1507-1512, 2007.

175. **Pepato MT, Migliorini RH, Goldberg AL, and Kettelhut IC**. Role of different proteolytic pathways in degradation of muscle protein from streptozotocin-diabetic rats. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism* 271: E340-E347, 1996.

176. Peterson TR, Laplante M, Thoreen CC, Sancak Y, Kang SA, and Kuehl WM. DEPTOR is an mTOR inhibitor frequently overexpressed in multiple myeloma cells and required for their survival. *Cell* 137: 2009.

177. Peterson TR, Laplante M, Thoreen CC, Sancak Y, Kang SA, Kuehl WM, Gray NS, and Sabatini DM. DEPTOR is an mTOR inhibitor frequently overexpressed in multiple myeloma cells and required for their survival. *Cell* 137: 873-886, 2009.

178. **Peth A, Nathan JA, and Goldberg AL**. The ATP costs and time required to degrade ubiquitinated proteins by the 26 S proteasome. *J Biol Chem* 288: 29215-29222, 2013.

179. **Phillips S, Tipton K, Aarsland A, Wolf S, and Wolfe R**. Mixed muscle protein synthesis and breakdown after resistance exercise in humans. *Am J Physiol* 273: E99 - E107, 1997.

180. **Poüs C, and Codogno P**. Lysosome positioning coordinates mTORC1 activity and autophagy. *Nature cell biology* 13: 342-344, 2011.

181. **Prado CM, Purcell SA, Alish C, Pereira SL, Deutz NE, Heyland DK, Goodpaster BH, Tappenden KA, and Heymsfield SB**. Implications of low muscle mass across the continuum of care: a narrative review. *Annals of medicine* 50: 675-693, 2018.

182. **Rashid H-O, Yadav RK, Kim H-R, and Chae H-J**. ER stress: Autophagy induction, inhibition and selection. *Autophagy* 11: 1956-1977, 2015.

183. **Reits E, Griekspoor A, Neijssen J, Groothuis T, Jalink K, van Veelen P, Janssen H, Calafat J, Drijfhout JW, and Neefjes J**. Peptide diffusion, protection, and degradation in nuclear and cytoplasmic compartments before antigen presentation by MHC class I. *Immunity* 18: 97-108, 2003.

184. **Reits E, Neijssen J, Herberts C, Benckhuijsen W, Janssen L, Drijfhout JW, and Neefjes J**. A major role for TPPII in trimming proteasomal degradation products for MHC class I antigen presentation. *Immunity* 20: 495-506, 2004.

185. Renna M, Bento CF, Fleming A, Menzies FM, Siddiqi FH, Ravikumar B, Puri C, Garcia-Arencibia M, Sadiq O, Corrochano S, Carter S, Brown SD, Acevedo-Arozena A, and Rubinsztein DC. IGF-1 receptor antagonism inhibits autophagy. *Hum Mol Genet* 22: 4528-4544, 2013.

186. **Rennie MJ, Smith K, and Watt PW**. Measurement of human tissue protein synthesis: an optimal approach. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism* 266: E298-E307, 1994.

187. **Rock KL, and Goldberg AL**. Degradation of cell proteins and the generation of MHC class I-presented peptides. *Annual review of immunology* 17: 739-779, 1999.

188. Rock KL, Gramm C, Rothstein L, Clark K, Stein R, Dick L, Hwang D, and Goldberg AL. Inhibitors of the proteasome block the degradation of most cell proteins and the generation of peptides presented on MHC class I molecules. *Cell* 78: 761-771, 1994.

189. Rock KL, Gramm C, Rothstein L, Clark K, Stein R, Dick L, Hwang D, and Goldberg AL. Inhibitors of the proteasome block the degradation of most cell proteins and the generation of peptides presented on MHC class I molecules. *Cell* 78: 761-771, 1994.

190. Rock KL, York IA, Saric T, and Goldberg AL. Protein degradation and the generation of MHC class I-presented peptides. 2002.

191. **Rodriguez-Aliaga P, Ramirez L, Kim F, Bustamante C, and Martin A**. Substrate-translocating loops regulate mechanochemical coupling and power production in AAA+ protease ClpXP. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 23: 974-981, 2016.

192. **Sabatini DD, and Adesnik M**. Christian de Duve: Explorer of the cell who discovered new organelles by using a centrifuge. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110: 13234-13235, 2013.

193. **Sabatini DM, Erdjument-Bromage H, Lui M, Tempst P, and Snyder SH**. RAFT1: a mammalian protein that binds to FKBP12 in a rapamycin-dependent fashion and is homologous to yeast TORs. *Cell* 78: 35-43, 1994.

194. Sabers CJ, Martin MM, Brunn GJ, Williams JM, Dumont FJ, Wiederrecht G, and Abraham RT. Isolation of a protein target of the FKBP12-rapamycin complex in mammalian cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 270: 815-822, 1995.

195. **Saric T, Graef CI, and Goldberg AL**. Pathway for degradation of peptides generated by proteasomes a key role for thimet oligopeptidase and other metallopeptidases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279: 46723-46732, 2004.

196. Schiaffino S. Losing pieces without disintegrating: Contractile protein loss during muscle atrophy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114: 1753-1755, 2017.

197. Schroder BA, Wrocklage C, Hasilik A, and Saftig P. The proteome of lysosomes. *Proteomics* 10: 4053-4076, 2010.

198. Schwartz WN, and Bird JWC. Degradation of myofibrillar proteins by cathepsins B and D. *Biochemical Journal* 167: 811-820, 1977.

199. Scornik O, and Botbol V. Role of changes in protein degradation in the growth of regenerating livers. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 251: 2891-2897, 1976.

200. **SE WR**. 9. Volpi E, Kobayashi H, Sheffield-Moore M, Mittendorjer B, Wolfe RR. Essential amino acids are primarily responsible for the amino acid stimulation of muscle protein anabolism in healthy elderly adults. Am J Clin Nutr 2003; 78: 250-8. 10. Bohe J, Low A, Wolfe RR, Rennie MJ. Human muscle protein synthesis. *Clin Nutr* 78: 250-258, 2003.

201. Seglen PO, and Bohley P. Autophagy and other vacuolar protein degradation mechanisms. *Experientia* 48: 158-172, 1992.

202. Seibenhener ML, Geetha T, and Wooten MW. Sequestosome 1/p62–more than just a scaffold. *FEBS letters* 581: 175-179, 2007.

203. **Shemin D**. The Dynamic State of Body Constituents. *By Rudolf Schoenheimer Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts 78 pages; 6 figures and 16 tables Price* \$175 2: 810-810, 1942.

204. Shimkus KL, Shirazi-Fard Y, Wiggs MP, Ullah ST, Pohlenz C, Gatlin 3rd DM, Carroll CC, Hogan HA, and Fluckey JD. Responses of skeletal muscle size and anabolism are reproducible with multiple periods of unloading/reloading. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 125: 1456-1467, 2018.

205. Sini P, James D, Chresta C, and Guichard S. Simultaneous inhibition of mTORC1 and mTORC2 by mTOR kinase inhibitor AZD8055 induces autophagy and cell death in cancer cells. *Autophagy* 6: 553-554, 2010.

206. Suraweera A, Münch C, Hanssum A, and Bertolotti A. Failure of amino acid homeostasis causes cell death following proteasome inhibition. *Molecular cell* 48: 242-253, 2012.

207. Takahashi K, Ueno T, Tanida I, Minematsu-Ikeguchi N, Murata M, and Kominami E. Characterization of CAA0225, a novel inhibitor specific for cathepsin L, as a probe for autophagic proteolysis. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 32: 475-479, 2009.

208. **Tanaka K, Ii K, Ichihara A, Waxman L, and Goldberg A**. A high molecular weight protease in the cytosol of rat liver. I. Purification, enzymological properties, and tissue distribution. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 261: 15197-15203, 1986.

209. Tenidis K, Waldner M, Bernhagen J, Fischle W, Bergmann M, Weber M, Merkle M-L, Voelter W, Brunner H, and Kapurniotu A. Identification of a penta-and hexapeptide of islet amyloid polypeptide (IAPP) with amyloidogenic and cytotoxic properties. *Journal of molecular biology* 295: 1055-1071, 2000.

210. Thomas M, Davis T, Loos B, Sishi B, Huisamen B, Strijdom H, and Engelbrecht AM. Autophagy is essential for the maintenance of amino acids and ATP levels during acute amino acid starvation in MDAMB231 cells. *Cell Biochemistry and Function* 36: 65-79, 2018.

211. Thoreen CC, Chantranupong L, Keys HR, Wang T, Gray NS, and Sabatini DM. A unifying model for mTORC1-mediated regulation of mRNA translation. *Nature* 485: 109-113, 2012.

212. Thoreen CC, Kang SA, Chang JW, Liu Q, Zhang J, Gao Y, Reichling LJ, Sim T, Sabatini DM, and Gray NS. An ATP-competitive mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor reveals rapamycin-resistant functions of mTORC1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284: 8023-8032, 2009.

213. **Thoreen CC, and Sabatini DM**. Rapamycin inhibits mTORC1, but not completely. *Autophagy* 5: 725-726, 2009.

214. Tian X, Gala U, Zhang Y, Shang W, Jaiswal SN, Di Ronza A, Jaiswal M, Yamamoto S, Sandoval H, and Duraine L. A voltage-gated calcium channel regulates lysosomal fusion with endosomes and autophagosomes and is required for neuronal homeostasis. *PLoS biology* 13: 2015.

215. **Tisdale MJ**. Pathogenesis of cancer cachexia. *The journal of supportive oncology* 1: 159-168, 2003.

216. **Trombetti A, Reid K, Hars M, Herrmann F, Pasha E, Phillips E, and Fielding R**. Age-associated declines in muscle mass, strength, power, and physical performance: impact on fear of falling and quality of life. *Osteoporosis international* 27: 463-471, 2016.

217. **Ueno T, and Takahashi K**. A cathepsin L-specific inhibitor preferentially inhibits degradation of autophagosomal LC3 and GABARAP in HeLa and Huh-7 cells. *Autophagy* 5: 878-879, 2009.

218. Vabulas RM, and Hartl FU. Protein synthesis upon acute nutrient restriction relies on proteasome function. *Science* 310: 1960-1963, 2005.

219. Vakana E, Sassano A, and Platanias LC. Induction of autophagy by dual mTORC1-mTORC2 inhibition in BCR-ABL-expressing leukemic cells. *Autophagy* 6: 966-967, 2010.

220. van Venrooij LM, Verberne HJ, de Vos R, Borgmeijer-Hoelen MM, van Leeuwen PA, and de Mol BA. Postoperative loss of skeletal muscle mass, complications and quality of life in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. *Nutrition* 28: 40-45, 2012.

221. Vander Haar E, Lee S-i, Bandhakavi S, Griffin TJ, and Kim D-H. Insulin signalling to mTOR mediated by the Akt/PKB substrate PRAS40. *Nature cell biology* 9: 316-323, 2007.

222. Venkatraman P, Wetzel R, Tanaka M, Nukina N, and Goldberg AL. Eukaryotic proteasomes cannot digest polyglutamine sequences and release them during degradation of polyglutamine-containing proteins. *Molecular cell* 14: 95-104, 2004.

223. Ventadour S, and Attaix D. Mechanisms of skeletal muscle atrophy. *Current opinion in rheumatology* 18: 631-635, 2006.

224. VerPlank JJS, Lokireddy S, Zhao J, and Goldberg AL. 26S Proteasomes are rapidly activated by diverse hormones and physiological states that raise cAMP and cause Rpn6 phosphorylation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 116: 4228-4237, 2019.

225. Vezina C, Kudelski A, and Sehgal S. Rapamycin (AY-22, 989), a new antifungal antibiotic. *The Journal of antibiotics* 28: 721-726, 1975.

226. Volodin A, Kosti I, Goldberg AL, and Cohen S. Myofibril breakdown during atrophy is a delayed response requiring the transcription factor PAX4 and desmin depolymerization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114: E1375-E1384, 2017.

227. Wagenmakers AJ. Tracers to investigate protein and amino acid metabolism in human subjects. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* 58: 987-1000, 1999.

Wagner M. Growth factor control of autophagy. *Nature cell biology* 7: 212-212, 2005.

229. Waldner M, Fantus D, Solari M, and Thomson AW. New perspectives on mTOR inhibitors (rapamycin, rapalogs and TORKinibs) in transplantation. *British journal of clinical pharmacology* 82: 1158-1170, 2016.

230. **Waterlow J**. The mysteries of nitrogen balance. *Nutrition research reviews* 12: 25-54, 1999.

231. Weber K, and Schilling JD. Lysosomes integrate metabolic-inflammatory cross-talk in primary macrophage inflammasome activation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 289: 9158-9171, 2014.

232. Weidberg H, Shvets E, Shpilka T, Shimron F, Shinder V, and Elazar Z. LC3 and GATE-16/GABARAP subfamilies are both essential yet act differently in autophagosome biogenesis. *Embo j* 29: 1792-1802, 2010.

233. Wenzel T, Eckerskorn C, Lottspeich F, and Baumeister W. Existence of a molecular ruler in proteasomes suggested by analysis of degradation products. *FEBS letters* 349: 205-209, 1994.

234. Wing SS, Haas A, and Goldberg A. Increase in ubiquitin-protein conjugates concomitant with the increase in proteolysis in rat skeletal muscle during starvation and atrophy denervation. *Biochemical Journal* 307: 639-645, 1995.

235. **Wolfe RR**. The underappreciated role of muscle in health and disease. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 84: 475-482, 2006.

236. Wong P-M, Feng Y, Wang J, Shi R, and Jiang X. Regulation of autophagy by coordinated action of mTORC1 and protein phosphatase 2A. *Nature communications* 6: 1-11, 2015.

237. **Yoon M-S**. mTOR as a key regulator in maintaining skeletal muscle mass. *Frontiers in physiology* 8: 788, 2017.

238. **Yorimitsu T, Nair U, Yang Z, and Klionsky DJ**. Endoplasmic reticulum stress triggers autophagy. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281: 30299-30304, 2006.

239. York IA, Mo AX, Lemerise K, Zeng W, Shen Y, Abraham CR, Saric T, Goldberg AL, and Rock KL. The cytosolic endopeptidase, thimet oligopeptidase, destroys antigenic peptides and limits the extent of MHC class I antigen presentation. *Immunity* 18: 429-440, 2003.

240. You J-S, Anderson GB, Dooley MS, and Hornberger TA. The role of mTOR signaling in the regulation of protein synthesis and muscle mass during immobilization in mice. *Disease models & mechanisms* 8: 1059-1069, 2015.

241. Yu L, McPhee CK, Zheng L, Mardones GA, Rong Y, and Peng J. Termination of autophagy and reformation of lysosomes regulated by mTOR. *Nature* 465: 2010.

242. Zhang Y, Nicholatos J, Dreier JR, Ricoult SJ, Widenmaier SB, Hotamisligil GS, Kwiatkowski DJ, and Manning BD. Coordinated regulation of protein synthesis and degradation by mTORC1. *Nature* 513: 440-443, 2014.

243. **Zhang Z, Wang Y, Li C, Shi Z, Hao Q, Wang W, Song X, Zhao Y, Jiao S, and Zhou Z**. The transitional endoplasmic reticulum ATPase p97 regulates the alternative nuclear factor NF-κB signaling via partial degradation of the NF-κB subunit p100. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 290: 19558-19568, 2015.

244. **Zhao J, Zhai B, Gygi SP, and Goldberg AL**. mTOR inhibition activates overall protein degradation by the ubiquitin proteasome system as well as by autophagy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 112: 15790-15797, 2015.

245. **Zhao J, Zhai B, Gygi SP, and Goldberg AL**. mTOR inhibition activates overall protein degradation by the ubiquitin proteasome system as well as by autophagy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112: 15790-15797, 2015.

246. **Zhao Y, Xiong X, Jia L, and Sun Y**. Targeting Cullin-RING ligases by MLN4924 induces autophagy via modulating the HIF1-REDD1-TSC1-mTORC1-DEPTOR axis. *Cell death & disease* 3: e386-e386, 2012.

247. **Zhao Y, Xiong X, and Sun Y**. DEPTOR, an mTOR inhibitor, is a physiological substrate of SCF(betaTrCP) E3 ubiquitin ligase and regulates survival and autophagy. *Molecular cell* 44: 2011.

248. **Zhou H, Luo Y, and Huang S**. Updates of mTOR inhibitors. *Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry (Formerly Current Medicinal Chemistry-Anti-Cancer Agents)* 10: 571-581, 2010.